
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

October 17, 2023 5:30 pm 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr  

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

 

A) Presentation of the Medal of Valor to Sergeant Nathaniel Janney and Officer Logan 

Gay  

B) Presentation of a Meritorious Service Award to Captain Jared Akins, Corporal Jessica 

Collins, APO Joey DeLoach, Officer Damien Truesdale and Communications Officer 

Sydney Johns. 

C) Presentation of the Medal of Valor to Officer Jonathan Treloar. 

D) Presentation of a Proclamation to Safe Haven recognizing October 2023 as Domestic 

Violence Awareness month. 

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-03-2023 Council Minutes 

b) 10-03-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: 

A) APPLICATION AN 23-08-07: S&K Investments LLC requests Annexation of 2.27 

acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to build a commercial 

development. 

B) APPLICATION RZ 23-08-08: S&K Investments LLC requests a Zoning Map 

Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the MX 

(Mixed Use) zoning district on 2.27 acres of property located at 3101 Old Register 

Road in order to build a commercial development. 

 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 23-09-

01: Nellie Meeks request a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family 

Residential) to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in order to reuse a property as office 

space at 26 Lindberg Street. 

 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 23-09-

02: Hillpointe, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the CR/PUD (Commercial 

Retail/Planned Unit Development) zoning districts to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district 

in order to develop a commercial multi-family residential development on 18.56 acres 

located on Lovett Road. 



 

 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SUB 23-09-

03: Tim Stone requests Preliminary Subdivision PLAT approval on approximately 11.54 

acres of property in order to develop a townhouse subdivision of approximately 93 units 

on Westside Road. 

 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION SUB 23-09-

04: Mitchell Ball requests Preliminary Subdivision PLAT approval on approximately 

32.6 acres of property in order to develop a single-family detached subdivision of 

approximately 90 units on Timber Road & Stockyard Road. 

 

11. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

     

      Family Dollar #30436 

      20 Veterans Memorial Plaza 

      Statesboro, Ga 30458 

      License Type: Package Sales – (Beer and Wine)  

  

12. Second Reading and Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2023-16: An 

Ordinance amending Chapter 38, Article VII Blight Tax of the Statesboro Code of 

Ordinances.  

 

13. Consideration of motion to approve an amendment to the Service Delivery Strategy to 

create wastewater service area for the City of Brooklet. 

 

14. Consideration of a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) between the City of Statesboro and Pineland Behavioral Health 

and Developmental Disabilities for transit vouchers. 

 

15. Consideration of a motion to award a contract for professional right-of-way services of 

the East Main Street Sidewalk Improvements project to Tennille Valuation & Consulting 

Services, LLC in the amount of $32,000.00. The project work will be paid from 2018 

TSPLOST Funds.  

 

16. Consideration of a motion to approve a Water/Sewer Agreement with Ecoplastics 

America Corp. for 78.40 acres located at 4800 US HWY 301 S. Register, 30452 GA, 

Property Tax Number 049 000022 000. 

 

17. Other Business from City Council 

 

18. City Managers Comments 

 

19. Public Comments (General) 

 

20. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

21. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



















A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 
honorinG october 2023 

AS domeStic Violence AWAreneSS month 
 

WHEREAS:  the crime of domestic violence violates an individual’s privacy, dignity, security and 
humanity due to the systematic use of physical, emotional, sexual, psychological and 
economic control and/or abuse; and  

WHEREAS:  domestic violence leaves an imprint of fear and hostility; and  

WHEREAS: the problems of domestic violence are not confined to any group or groups of people but 
cross all economic, racial, affectional preference, and social barriers, thereby affecting 
society as a whole; and  

WHEREAS: in the City of Statesboro, adults and children are victims of violence each year, and  

WHEREAS: Statesboro City Council is committed to restoring the right to freedom from fear in our 
homes, and 

WHEREAS: Statesboro City Council is committed to restoring the right to freedom from fear in our 
communities; and 

WHEREAS: in our quest to impose sanctions on those who break the law by perpetrating violence, we 
must also meet the needs of victims of domestic violence and their children who often 
suffer grave financial physical, and psychological losses, and  

   
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that in recognition of the important work done by 
domestic violence programs, in cooperation with Safe Haven, I , Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the 
City of Statesboro on behalf of the entire City Council, does hereby proclaim the month of October 
2023 as  

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AWARENESS MONTH. 
 
We urge all citizens, agencies, and businesses to work together as a team in our community through 
prevention, intervention and education programs, to eliminate domestic violence and become a 
violence free community 
 
PASSED AND ADOPED by the City of Statesboro this 17th day of October, 2023. 

 
 

 ______________________ 
 Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

OCTOBER 3, 2023 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember John Riggs called on Allen Muldrew to give the Invocation and he led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present Via Zoom   
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Public Information Officer Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith 
and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 09-19-2023 Work Session Minutes 
b) 09-19-2023 Council Minutes 
c) 09-19-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



2 
 

 
5. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve an application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with the City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Sec. 6-13(a): 
 
Reliance (Convenience Store) 
17412 US Hwy 301 North 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Package Sales – (Beer and Wine only) and Sunday Sales 
 

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve an application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Sec. 6-13(a): issued to Reliance (Convenience Store) located at 17412 US Hwy 301 North Statesboro, Ga 
30458 for License Type: Package Sales – (Beer and Wine only) and Sunday Sales.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

6. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-16: An Ordinance amending Chapter 
38, Article VII Blight Tax of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances.  
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith explained the amendment is to increase the multiplier of the property tax rate to 7 for any 
properties identified in blighted condition. It also allows that any property removed from blighted condition would 
receive a reduction in property taxes for three years.  
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated the multiplier number should be removed from the ordinance and placed in the City’s 
Schedule of Rates, Fees, and Fines. 
 
After some council discussion a motion was made to remove the multiplier from the ordinance and place it in the 
Schedule of Rates, Fees, and Fines and to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2023-16.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-44: A resolution approving application 
for funding from the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority to conduct a lead water 
service line study. 
  

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2023-44: A resolution approving application for funding from the Georgia 
Environmental Finance Authority to conduct a lead water service line study.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

8. Consideration of a motion for award of contract to Vickery Farms Sodscapes, LLC in the not 
to exceed amount of $61,200.00 for supplemental maintenance of the Eastside Cemetery. 
 

A motion was made to approve an award of contract to Vickery Farms Sodscapes, LLC in the not to exceed amount of 
$61,200.00 for supplemental maintenance of the Eastside Cemetery.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

9. Consideration of a motion for award of contract to S.A. Brown Enterprises in the amount of 
$128,140.00 for the “Bulloch Street Sidewalk Project”. Project will be funded from the 2018 
TSPLOST Fund. 
 

A motion was made to approve an award of contract to S.A. Brown Enterprises in the amount of $128,140.00 for the 
“Bulloch Street Sidewalk Project”. Project will be funded from the 2018 TSPLOST Fund.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

 
10. Consideration of a motion for award of contract to S.A. Brown Enterprises in the amount of 

$100,250.00 for the “Sidewalk Improvements Project”. Project will be funded from the 2018 
TSPLOST Fund. 
 

A motion was made to approve an award of contract to S.A. Brown Enterprises in the amount of $100,250.00 for the 
“Sidewalk Improvements Project”. Project will be funded from the 2018 TSPLOST Fund.   
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

11. Consideration of a motion authorizing the Mayor to execute a purchase agreement and related 
documents for right-of-way and easement acquisition at 323 West Main Street for the West 
Main Street Sidewalk Project. Funding is provided from 2018 TSPLOST. 
 

A motion was made to approve the Mayor to execute a purchase agreement and related documents for right-of-way and 
easement acquisition at 323 West Main Street for the West Main Street Sidewalk Project. Funding is provided from 2018 
TSPLOST.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to amend the West Main Street Drainage Improvements Project 
contract with McLendon Enterprises in the amount of $119,947.44. This work will be paid by 
fund balance in the 2018 TSPLOST Fund. 

 
A motion was made to approve an amendment to the West Main Street Drainage Improvements Project contract with 
McLendon Enterprises in the amount of $119,947.44. This work will be paid by fund balance in the 2018 TSPLOST 
Fund.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

13. Other Business from City Council:  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr shared that its’ First Friday time and October is Ag Night out from 5:30 pm to 8:00 pm in 
downtown.  
 

14. City Managers Comments 
City Manager Charles Penny reviewed a few things from the FYI packet about the transit ridership increase. In addition 
Habitat with Humanity received a grant in the amount of $9000 to be used to help promote the transit program. Mr. 
Penny stated back in 2020 during COVID the city approved the use of funds through Action Pact to help people with 
water, sewer, and gas bills. The agreement with Action Pact has remained in place but there has been very little activity. 
Of the $62,000 about $10,000 has been used. The current agreement requires the use of these funds to be because of 
COVID related issues. The question is would you like to continue using those funds to help citizens in need. If so we 
would need to revise the agreement with Action Pact and would have it for consideration at the next council meeting.  
Councilmember Paulette Chavers stated there has been a lot rhetoric throughout the community regarding certain 
ordinances and commended the Mayor for stepping up and addressing and answering questions people had in the 
community. She also stated since the last council meeting it has been on her mind about the city being down 17 police 
officers, we need to do some sort of push to fill these vacancies so police can do adequate patrol throughout the 
community.  
Mr. Penny stated he and Police Chief Mike Broadhead are working on some recruitment incentives and some pay 
incentives for those who sign on with the Statesboro Police Department. We will push as hard as we can to get these 
spots filled.        
Mayor McCollar stated he, Councilmember Paulette Chavers, and several members throughout the community are doing 
a walk to take back our neighborhoods and invites all members of the community to come out on October 15th at 3:00 
pm to be a part of this. The march will begin at Kent Street Park on West Grady Street and end at Louetta Moore Park 
where there will be an open town hall addressing issues on the mind of citizens.  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr shared other activities going on this coming weekend, the Statesboro Fire Department will 
be doing a fire alarm blitz on Saturday October 14th beginning at 9am with their concentration on the mobile home parks 
in the area. Also on Saturday there will be a Community Resource Family Funding Day, hosted by Statesboro Village 
Builders, held at Luetta Moore Park from 10 am to 3 pm and prior to that event DSDA will be hosting Scare on the 
Square from 9am to 1 pm in downtown Statesboro.    
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated the city needs to put together a coordinated campaign for recruiting police officers, 
similar to the one we did for the fire department as well as put together a six month plan for hiring police.   
 

15. Public Comments (General): None 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

7 
 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 
 
At 9:40 am a motion was made to enter into executive session for “Personnel Matters” and “Potential Litigation”.    
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
At 10:09 a motion was made to exit executive session.    
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the regular meeting back to order 
 
A motion was made to appoint Alyson Prude to the Greener Boro Commission and to appoint Len Fatica to the Statesboro 
Planning Commission.    
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember 

Councilmember  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



8 
 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:09 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: October 6, 2023 

 

RE: October 17, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Annexation 

 

Recommendation: Staff Recommends Approval of the Annexation Ordinance 

 

Background: S&K Investments LLC requests Annexation of 2.27 acres of property 

located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to build a commercial development. 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Mack (District 3)  

 

Attachments: Annexation General Update & Annexation Ordinance 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:  Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 
 
Date:  October 6, 2023  
 
RE:  3101 Old Register Road: AN 23-08-07 
 
Below is the information regarding this annexation for City Council: 
 

3101 Old Register Road (Parcels A&B) 

Analysis of the possible development has brought forth the following information. These 

estimates are based off of the non-binding sketch provided by the developer. The calculations 

prepared in this document utilize the number of buildings which will require services. At this 

time, it is unlikely that the property will see substantial changes based on the proposed zoning 

and existing buildings on the site. 

This area is located in the Emerging Business character area of the Statesboro 

Comprehensive Plan, and is in the existing Old Register Tax Allocation District. This area does 

specifically call for Mixed Use Retail/Office/Residential Buildings, Small and Mid-size retail and 

Entertainment space.   

This analysis is broken into specific areas related to the following: Utility & 

Infrastructure Cost, Tax Implications and Economic Impact.  

Utility & Infrastructure Revenue 

 Calculations for the extension of utilities into the area completed by the Water/Sewer 

Division determined that the extension of utilities onto the site would be incurred by the 

developer. These extensions would be maintained by the City. The applicant would be required 

to pay for both the water and sewer extensions, the taps into the system per building, as well 

as the aid to construction fee for each.  The Aid to Construction fee is a specific fee associated 

with the impact that a development would have on the City Wastewater Treatment Plant, and 

is used exclusively to assist in maintaining this plant.  

 The installation of gas to the area has not been determined as a desired request, 

therefore no analysis has been conducted for this item. If natural gas is requested, these cost 

would be incurred by the City to extend into the area.  As the business type has not been 



determined for the proposed building, the Aid to construction fee will be determined at that 

time. This number can vary substantially depending on the number and type of businesses that 

eventually locate in the area. Due to this, it is unknown what the actual impact may be. An 

estimate provided below shows fees associated with the installation of one 2” water line, and 

one 4” sewer line on the property, which is a common request for multi-tenant commercial 

development.  

 

Infrastructure Revenue to the City 

 Water Tap Sewer Tap Aid to Construction 

Per Unit Revenue $3800 $600 N/A 

 

Tax Implications 

 As of October 1, 2023, the City of Statesboro has a millage rate of 8.125 mills. The land 

value of the property without infrastructure is currently listed by the Bulloch Tax Assessor at 

$469,700. Considering that value, the 40% assessed amount will be approximately $187,880.  

Within the first year, the general tax rate of the land would be $1526.52. The construction of 

the proposed building would add to the overall value of the property, but at this time there is 

no estimated cost for the new building construction.   

 A map showing the initial proposal for this development may be found below. Due to 

specific environmental and code restraints, this plan is subject to change. It should be noted 

that this property was initially slated for annexation in March of this year.  

Economic Impacts 

In regards to the general impact to the economic base of the City, there are two factors 

to consider. The first is the general amount of financial impact directly to the City upon 

annexation, and the second is the financial impact to the City post construction. This does not 

include any impacts to the overall traffic analysis of the proposed development, nor does it 

include the overall cost of services in terms of fire nor police (this area is already covered by the 

5-mile fire district, so there is no change in this service cost).   

 Please note that this area is directly served by the improvements to Old Register Road 

that were completed as a result of the Publix/Stadium development.  At the current level of 

traffic, it is unlikely that there will be a significant change in the overall road service level in the 

area. Care should be taken if the projects are split into smaller units, which would increase 

traffic flows, but it is not likely to cause lowered service.   

 A brief chart shows project revenue at the current level, without respect to the possible 

change to the design of the project.  

 



 

Total Project Revenue 

  Without Annexation  Annexation 

Land Value $469,700 $469,700 

Water/Sewer 
Improvement 

$0 $4,400 

Property Tax Value 
(Yearly) 

$0 $1526.52 

 

 

Subject Property 

 

 



Proposed Development 

 

 



ORDINANCE # 2023- __: 

AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY 

INTO THE CITY OF STATESBORO  

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia have received and accepted a 

petition from S&K Investments of GA LLC, the owner of 100 percent of the property to be annexed; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 36 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, in order to annex 

property, to provide an effective date, and other provisions, the Mayor and City Council must approve an 

ordinance for annexation; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, in 

regular session assembled as follows: 

Section 1.  The area contiguous to the City of Statesboro as described in the Unified Development Code, 

which is attached to and incorporated as part of this ordinance, is hereby annexed into the City of Statesboro and 

is made a part of said city. Said property also being known as Bulloch County tax map parcel # 076 000001 001 and 

further described under Appendix A: 

Section 2. This ordinance shall become effective on November 1, 2023. 

Section 3. The Director of Planning & Development of the City of Statesboro is instructed to send a 

report that includes certified copies of this ordinance, the name of the county in which the property being annexed 

is located and a letter from the City stating the intent to add the annexed area to the Census maps during the next 

survey and stating that the survey map will be completed and returned to the United States Census Bureau, 

Georgia Department of Community Affairs, and to the governing authority of Bulloch County, Georgia within thirty 

(30) days after the effective date of the annexation as set forth in Section 2.

Section 4. On the effective date of the annexation, this property shall be placed in Council District 

3 of the City of Statesboro. 

Section 5. This property shall be zoned MX (Mixed-Use) and located within the Emerging Business 

character area on the City of Statesboro Future Development Map pursuant to the vote of the Statesboro City 

Council held on October 17, 2023, subsequent to a public hearing regarding the zoning of said property. 

Section 6. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are repealed. 

APPROVED this 17th day of October, 2023 by the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro. 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ _______________________________ 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor Leah Harden, City Clerk   



Appendix A 

Property to be annexed on the surveys below and further described as approximately 2.72 +/- acres of 

land and adjacent to the auto shop located on Old Register Road (Tax Parcels # 076 000001 001). 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: October 6, 2023 

 

RE: October 17, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends the Approval of the 

Zoning Map Amendment. 

 

Background: S&K Investments LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the 

R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning 

district on 2.27 acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to 

build a commercial development. 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Mack (District 3)  

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 23-08-08 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 23-08-08 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

3101 OLD REGISTER ROAD PARCEL C&D 

LOCATION: 3101 Old Register Road (Parcel C&D)  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

HC/PUD(Highway Commercial/Planned 
Unit Development  – County) 

ACRES: 2.27 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

076 000001 001 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 3 (Mack) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Commercial Development 

PETITIONER                 S&K Investments LLC 

ADDRESS                     129 Woodbridge Way; Statesboro GA, 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     John Dotson 

ADDRESS                    40 Joe Kennedy Blvd; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting an Annexation and subsequent Zoning Map Amendment for 
2.27 acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to build a commercial 
development.  

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 23-08-08 CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: HC (Highway Commercial – County) Tire Shop 

Northeast Location Area #2:  EXPT (Exempt) Georgia Southern University 

Northwest Location Area #3:  EXPT (Exempt) Georgia Southern University 

East Location Area #4: CR (Commercial Retail) Publix Shopping Center 

West Location Area #5: R-40 (Single-Family  Residential) GA Power Station 

Southwest Location Area #6: PUD (Planned Unit Development) Vacant (Future Tormenta 
Development) 

Southeast Location Area #7:PUD (Planned Unit Development ) Tormenta Stadium 

South Location Area #8:  PUD (Planned Unit Development) Vacant 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

PROPOSED SITE 

 

 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a vacant 2.27 acre lot located on Old Register Road. The property is 
directly adjacent to both the Publix shopping center and the existing GA Power substation. 
There is no historical development on this lot. This property is currently under consideration 
for Annexation with Case AN 23-08-07. 

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan shows this area in the 
“Emerging Business” character area, which calls for small and midsize regional retail and 
commercial development, as well as mixed use retail and multi-family housing. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property listed for annexation does not contain wetlands or FEMA listed flood 
plains.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property is not currently served by City Water or Sewer, but water and sewer 
both serve the adjacent “Publix” property.    

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS FOR DETERMINATION 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.” 

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties.  Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The surrounding area is made up of a mix of Commercial properties and 
vacant land as a part of Tax Allocation District #2. It is likely that this 
property will grow in a mostly commercial and high-density residential 
manner.  

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

 This would not cause significant pressure to the existing area, although at 
the time, tenants have not been decided for the potential building.  

3. Does the property be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as currently 
zoned? 

 This is currently a part of a larger piece of property that requested 
annexation in 2023. The property is currently zoned in a manner that will not 
allow for development with connection to City Utilities.  

4. Will the zoning proposal result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

 This road was recently expanded to support a significant increase in 
traffic. The request will not detrimentally impact the level of service on this 
road. As a commercial property, this will not impact school facilities. 

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either 
approval or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

 

 This is a currently developing area, which is projected to grow in both the 
amount residential and commercial development. This would be a beneficial 
use of the property.  

 
6. Does the zoning proposal conform with the Long Range Land Use Plan of 

the Municipality.  

 The overall use is consistent with the “Emerging Business” character area 
in the 2019-2029 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  

  



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

Subject Property 

 
 

Southeastern Property 

 
 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

Northeastern Property 

 
 

Southern Property 

  



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-08-08 

 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval AN 23-08-07 & RZ 23-08-08. If this petition is approved by the 
Mayor and City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following 
enumerated condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant site and/or building plan 
approval as submitted. Project will be required to meet all City Ordinances and 
applicable building codes.  

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on October 3, 2023, the 
Commission recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment and staff 
recommendations with a 3-0 vote.   

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: October 6, 2023 

 

RE: October 17, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends the Approval of the 

Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Background: Nellie Meeks request a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 

(Single-Family Residential) to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in order to reuse 

a property as office space at 26 Lindberg Street. 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1)  

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 23-09-01 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 23-09-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

26 LINDBERG STREET 

LOCATION: 26 Lindberg Street  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-15 (Single-Family Residential) 

ACRES: 0.26 Acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S51 000045 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 1 (Boyum) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Single-Family Home 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Office Space 

PETITIONER                 Nellie H Meeks 

ADDRESS                     1908 Chattworth Court; Statesboro, GA 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Sue Palmer 

ADDRESS                    8 Carmel Drive 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family Residential) 
zoning district to the MX (Mixed-Use) zoning district, in order to utilize the property as an office 
space.  

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 23-09-01 CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

 



Page 3 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

  



Page 4 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

 



Page 5 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1 MX/R-15 (Mixed-Use/Single-Family 
Residential) 

Multi-Tenant Office 

Northeast Location Area #2:   MX/R-15 (Mixed-Use/Single-Family 
Residential) 

Multi-Tenant Office 

East Location Area #3:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Kid’s World Learning Center 

North West  Location Area #4:  MX/R-15 (Mixed-Use/Single-Family 
Residential) 

Multi-Tenant Office 

Southeast Location Area #5:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Kid’s World Learning Center 

South Location Area #7:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single Family Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #8:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single Family Dwelling 

West Location Area #9: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 



Page 6 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site consists of approximately 0.26 acres, and currently has a single-family 
residence on the site.  

The intent of the applicant is to reuse the location as a potential office space, but desires 
the flexibility to redevelop the location if necessary.   

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the “Neighborhood Center” character area, which is generally intended for lower to 
medium intensity residential as well as neighborhood scale office and personal services.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The property does appear to contain wetlands as this area has historically been developed 
and currently has housing already on it.   

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

This site has access to City of Statesboro utilities, and if the intent is to retain the existing 
building, the already supplied utilities should be sufficient for the site.  

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.” 

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties.  Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The surrounding area is made up of a mix of residential houses and 
commercial businesses, due to the proximity to Northside Drive East. Some 
existing zoned property has been utilized in a commercial manner due to 
existing special exceptions, grandfathered uses and variances.  

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

 Although an appraisal has not been conducted, it is staff’s belief that 
property values would not be negatively impacted by this change of use.  

3. Does the property be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as currently 
zoned? 

 The property would still retain the ability to be used as a residential home if 
needed by the applicant, but the change in zoning would allow for new uses 
and the newly approved live-work unit as outlined in the Unified 
Development Code. Overall, the property is reasonably zoned as a home.  



Page 7 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

4. Will the zoning proposal result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 

 As it has not been determined what the final use of the property will be, the 
general size of the lot and existing building would lead to a low intensity use 
by nature of the physical restrictions on the property.  

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either approval 
or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

 The proposed change does not conflict with the existing development of the 
area to the North or East. This would be in conflict with properties to the 
West, although land uses do permit by right some extremely light 
commercial uses in the area.   

6. Does the zoning proposal conform with the Long Range Land Use Plan of the 
Municipality? 

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
(“Neighborhood Center”) as stated in the 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive 
Master Plan. 

  



Page 8 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

Subject Property 

 

Northern Property 

 

 



Page 9 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

Western Property 

 

Northern Property 

 

 



Page 10 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-01 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 23-09-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
site without approval. All construction must be approved by the City.   

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on October 3, 2023, the 
Commission recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment and staff 
recommendations with a 3-0 vote.   

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

   

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  •  STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

To:  Charles Penny,  City Manager and  Leah Harden, City Clerk

From:  Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator

Date:  October 6, 2023

RE:  October 17,  2023  City Council Agenda  Items

Policy  Issue:  Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  Zoning Map Amendment

Recommendation:  Planning Commission recommends the Approval of the 
Zoning Map Amendment

Background:  Hillpointe, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment  from the 
MX/PUD (Commercial Retail/Planned Unit Development) zoning districts  to 

the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in order to develop a commercial multi-

family residential development on 18.56 acres located on Lovett Road.

Budget Impact: None

Council Person and District:  Barr  (District 5)

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 23-09-02

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 23-09-02 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

LOVETT ROAD 

LOCATION: Lovett Road  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

MX/PUD (Mixed-Use/Planned Unit 
Development) 

ACRES: 18.56 Acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS72000004 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 5 (Barr) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Wooded Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Multi-Family Complex 

PETITIONER                 Hillpiointe LLC 

ADDRESS                     8830 Macon Highway, Building 300: Athens GA, 30606 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Marcus Wiedower 

ADDRESS                    Same As Above 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the MX/PUD (Mixed-Use/Planned Unit 
Development) zoning districts to the MX (Mixed-Use) zoning district in order to develop a Multi-
Building Apartment Complex. 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 23-09-02 - CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1 MX (Mixed-Use) Shopping Complex 

Northeast Location Area #2:   MX (Mixed-Use) Statesboro Mall 

East Location Area #3:  MX (Mixed-Use) Statesboro Mall 

North West  Location Area #4:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single Family Dwelling 

Southeast Location Area #5:  MX (Mixed-Use) Statesboro Mall 

South Location Area #6 MX (Mixed-Use) Shopping Complex 

Southwest Location Area #7:  PUD/MX (Planned Unit 
Development/Mixed-Use) 

Vacant Lot 

West Location Area #8: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single Family Dwelling 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site consists of approximately 18.56 acres, and currently is a wooded area with 
some noted wetlands, adjacent to the commercial uses to the South.  

The intent of the applicant is to develop a 216 unit multi-family residential complex. The 
applicant intends to provide appropriate buffering to the property in alignment with the 
associated Unified Development Code.  

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the “Activity/Regional Center” character area, which is generally intended for 
pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment areas that accommodate High-
Density Residential Development.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The property does appear to contain wetlands to the south, which is not being impacted for 
development. The property does not contain floodplains, but will need to ensure significant 
care is taken to develop due to the amount of trees necessary for removal.    

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

This site has access to City of Statesboro utilities and is currently facing a public street for 
both proposed entrances.   

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.” 

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties.  Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The surrounding area is made up of a mix of residential houses and highly 
trafficked commercial buildings. This property has remained unsold for a 
number of years, and would be buffered from the single-family residential 
found on Gentilly. It would also feed into the existing commercial already in 
the area. 

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

 Although an appraisal has not been conducted, it is staff’s belief that 
property values would not be negatively impacted by this change of use. 

 

  

3. Does the property be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as currently 
zoned? 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

 The property was granted a PUD prior to the Great Recession, and at this 
time would not be able to be utilized for anything beyond the listed 
commercial complex that was proposed. Due to the overlay associated with 
the property, this rezoning would be necessary to build this product.   

4. Will the zoning proposal result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 

 The number of units would significantly increase traffic on the adjacent Lovett 
Road, but it will be necessary to provide a traffic study. As the makeup of the 
units has not yet been determined, it is unknown how this will impact the 
schools in the associated district, but it can be assumed that this will increase 
the general number of students in the County School system.  

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either approval 
or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

 The proposed change does not conflict with the existing development of the 
area, as the roads are highly trafficked due to the adjacent mall, Movie 
Theater, and numerous restaurants on Northside Drive.  

6. Consistency Does the zoning proposal conform with the Long Range Land Use 
Plan of the Municipality? 

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
(“Activity/Regional Center”) as stated in the 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive 
Master Plan.  

  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

Subject Property 

 

Northern Property 

 



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

Southern/Subject Property 

 

Eastern Property 

 

 

 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

Concept Plan 

 

 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-09-02 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 23-09-02. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
site without approval. All construction must be approved by the City.   

(2) Due to the proposed density, the applicant must provide a traffic impact analysis for 
the project prior to the issuance of the land disturbance permit.  

(3) Additional buffering may be required on the Northwest boundary so as to minimize the 
impact on the Single-Family homes on this boundary.  

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on October 3, 2023, the 
Commission recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment and staff 
recommendations with a 3-0 vote.   

.  

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

   

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  •  STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

To:  Charles Penny,  City Manager and  Leah Harden, City Clerk

From:  Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator

Date:  October 6, 2023

RE:  October 17,  2023  City Council Agenda  Items

Policy Issue:  Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  Preliminary Subdivision PLAT

Recommendation:  Planning Commission recommends the  Preliminary 
Subdivision PLAT.

Background:  Tim Stone requests Preliminary Subdivision PLAT approval on 
approximately 11.54 acres of property in order to develop a townhouse 
subdivision of approximately 93 units on Westside Road.

Budget Impact: None

Council Person and District: Chavers  (District  2)

Attachments: Development Services Report SUB  23-09-03

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 SUB 23-09-03 

PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION REQUEST 

WESTSIDE ROAD 

LOCATION: Westside Road 
 

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-2 (Townhouse Residential) 

ACRES: 11.54 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS30000025 002 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 2 (Chavers) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Townhouse Subdivision 

PETITIONER                 Tim Stone – DR Horton 

ADDRESS                     30 Silver Lake Road; Bluffton SC, 29909 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Nathan Brown – Hussey Gay Bell 

ADDRESS                    1100 Brampton Ave, #1; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting Preliminary Subdivision Approval on approximately 11.54 
acres of property on Westside Road in order to develop a fee simple Townhome 
Subdivision. 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

SUB 23-09-03 – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

 



Page 3 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

  



Page 4 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

 



Page 5 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: R-6 (Single-Family Residential) Rural/Open Land 

Northeast Location Area #2: R-6 (Single-Family Residential) Rural/Open Land 

Northwest Location Area #3: R-6 (Single-Family Residential) Rural/Open Land 

East Location Area #4: PUD (Planned Unit Development) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

West Location Area #5: R-40 (Single-Family Residential-
County) 

Rural/Open Land 

Southwest Location Area #6: HC (Highway Commercial) Iron Works Facility 

Southeast Location Area #7:  HC (Highway Commercial) Rural/Open Land 

South Location Area #8:  HC (Highway Commercial) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 



Page 6 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

SKETCH PLAN 

 

 



Page 7 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a vacant lot with of approximately 11.54 acres with a proposed new 
public road connecting to the parcel to the North. The number of proposed units do not 
exceed the number of units allotted based on the general zoning of the property.  

The applicant intends to develop a new Townhouse Subdivision of approximately 93 units 
adjacent to the existing “In the Grove” subdivision. The applicant will be developing the 
road to connect to the Northern Parcel to provide for additional connection flowing through 
the entirety of the area.   

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan shows this as a part of 
the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area, small-lot single-family 
residential developments as well as neighborhood services and neighborhood scaled retail 
and commercial. As noted in the rezoning of this property, the Comprehensive Plan was 
not drafted to originally include townhomes, but as these lots are fee simple, this would be 
an acceptable development type.   

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does contain some wetlands to the northern areas of the property, but 
a large portion of the property will remain undeveloped due to the nature of townhomes.   

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property is not currently served by City Water or Sewer, but the property can 
be served by both City Water and Sewer with minimal extension. Additionally, the 
topography of the property will require the use of a lift station, which will be built at cost to 
the developer.  

  



Page 8 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

Subject Property 

 
 

Eastern Property 
 

 
 



Page 9 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

Western Property 

 
 

Southern Property 

  



Page 10 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-03 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of SUB 23-09-03. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Preliminary Subdivision Plat does not grant site and/or building plan 
approval as submitted. Project will be required to meet all City Ordinances and 
applicable building codes.  

(2) The applicant must adhere to all recommended zoning determinations as provided by 
the original Zoning Map Amendment of the property.  

(3) The proposed stub road must be constructed in accordance with the submitted 
subdivision plat, and meet all requirements for street dedication upon completion of the 
street network. 

 
At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on October 3, 2023, the 
Commission recommended approval of the Preliminary PLAT and staff recommendations 
with a 3-0 vote.   

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

To:  Charles Penny,  City Manager and  Leah Harden, City Clerk

From:  Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator

Date:  October  6, 2023

RE: October  17, 2023  City Council Agenda  Items

Policy Issue:  Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  Preliminary Subdivision PLAT

Recommendation:  Planning Commission recommends the Approval of the 
Preliminary Subdivision PLAT.

Background:  Mitchell Ball requests Preliminary Subdivision PLAT approval on 
approximately 32.6 acres of property in order to develop a single-family 
detached subdivision of approximately 90 units on Timber Road & Stockyard

Road.

Budget Impact: None

Council Person and District: Chavers  (District  2)

Attachments: Development Services Report SUB 23-09-04

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 SUB 23-09-04 

PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION REQUEST 

STOCKYARD ROAD 

LOCATION: Stockyard Road 
 

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-6 (Single-Family Residential) 

ACRES: 32.16 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS38000068 001 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 2 (Chavers) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Single-Family Subdivision 

PETITIONER                 Mitchell Ball 

ADDRESS                     1007 Monarch Circle; Statesboro GA 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     SAME AS ABOVE 

ADDRESS                    SAME AS ABOVE 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting Preliminary Subdivision Approval on approximately 32.16 
acres of property on Stockyard & Timber Road in order to develop a single-family 
detached residential subdivision. 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

SUB 23-09-04 – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

 



Page 3 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

  



Page 4 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

 



Page 5 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: R-6 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

Northeast Location Area #2: R-6 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

Northwest Location Area #3: R-6 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

East Location Area #4: PUD (Planned Unit Development  Duplex Residential Dwelling 

West Location Area #5: R-20 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #6: R-40 (Single-Family Residential-
County) 

Rural/Open Land 

Southeast Location Area #7: PUD (Planned Unit Development) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

South Location Area #8: R-2 (Townhouse Residential) Rural/Open Land 



Page 6 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

SKETCH PLAN 

 

 



Page 7 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a vacant lot with of approximately 32.16 acres with a proposed new 
public road connecting to the parcel to the South. The number of proposed units do not 
exceed the number of units allotted based on the general zoning of the property. The parcel 
will also allow for access on both Timber and Stockyard Roads, which will provide needed 
access for the number of units  

The applicant intends to develop a new Single-Family Subdivision of approximately 84 units 
in between the existing Quail Run and proposed Westside Road subdivisions. The 
applicant will be required to adhere to the existing UDC ordinance for this development.  

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan shows this as a part of 
the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area, small-lot single-family 
residential developments as well as neighborhood services and neighborhood scaled retail 
and commercial.   

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does contain some wetlands to the northern areas of the property, but 
a large portion of the property will remain undeveloped and provided for amenities and 
open space.   

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property is not currently served by City Water or Sewer, but the property can 
be served by both City Water and Sewer with minimal extension. Additionally, the 
topography of the property will require the use of a lift station, which will be built at cost to 
the developer. The property exit shown on Stockyard Road is of specific concern, as it 
currently does not provide sufficient site distance from the adjacent exits of other properties 
on Stockyard Road.  

  



Page 8 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

Subject Property 

 
 

Northern Property 
 

 
 



Page 9 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

Southeastern Property 

 
 

Northeastern Property 

  



Page 10 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 23-09-04 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of SUB 23-09-04. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Preliminary Subdivision Plat does not grant site and/or building plan 
approval as submitted. Project will be required to meet all City Ordinances and 
applicable building codes.  

(2) The applicant must adhere to all recommended zoning determinations as provided by 
the original Zoning Map Amendment of the property.  

(3) The proposed stub road must be constructed in accordance with the submitted 
subdivision plat, and meet all requirements for street dedication upon completion of 
the street network. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on October 3, 2023, the 
Commission recommended approval of the Preliminary PLAT and staff recommendations 
with a 3-0 vote.   

 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 10/11/2023 

RE: Family Dollar #30436

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Paulette Chavers, District 2

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















Family Dollar #30436
20 Veterans Plaza
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name Recommendation Comments

Planning &
Development

Jermaine
Foster

Approved 09/26/2023

Fire Department Andrew
Cheney

Approved 10/02/2023

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approve

Legal Cain Smith Approve



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: October 10, 2023 
 
RE: October 17, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second reading and consideration of amendment to Chapter 38, 
Article VII Blight Tax 
 
Recommendation: Approve 
 
Background: On December 3, 2019 Chapter 38, Article VII establishing the 
Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive Program was passed by Council 5-0. 
Mayor McCollar disapproved and adjusted the item of appropriation in Sec 38-
162 from an additional multiplication factor of 7.0 for all properties to zero for 
residential properties and 10.0 for commercial properties located within the 
South Main (“Blue Mile”) TAD and DSDA district.  Proposed amendment was 
brought forward at September 19, 2023 work session for presentation as first 
reading where it was moved forward to second reading. 

 
Budget Impact: TBD 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Redlined Chapter 38, Article VII  



1  
  

ORDINANCE 2023-16: 

Statesboro, Georgia, Code of Ordinances – Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive 
Program  

Chapter 38, Article VII. – COMMUNITITY REDEVELOPMENT TAX INCENTIVE 
PROGRAM  

  

Section 38-160 – Purpose.  
Section 38-161 – Definitions.  
Section 38-162 – Levy of increase ad valorem tax on blighted real property.  
Section 38-163 – Official identification of property maintained in blighted condition. 
Section 38-164 – Remediation or redevelopment to remove designation of blighted                               
condition.  
Section 38-165 – Decreased rate of taxation to be applied after successful remedial                                    
action or redevelopment of blighted property.  
Section 38-166 – Duty of code official to provide notice to county tax commissioner.  

  
Section 38-160 – Purpose.  

The existence of real property which is maintained in a blighted condition 
increases the burden of the state and local government by increasing the need for 
government services, including but not limited to social services, public safety services, 
and code enforcement services.  Rehabilitation of blighted property decreases this need 
for such government services.  

In furtherance of its objective to eradicate conditions of slum and blight within 
the City, the Mayor and Council in exercise of the powers granted to municipal 
corporations at Chapter 61, Urban Redevelopment, of Title 36 of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, has designated those areas of the City where conditions of slum and 
blight are found or are likely to spread.  

In recognition of the need for enhanced governmental services and in order to 
encourage private property owners to maintain their real property and the buildings, 
structures and improvement thereon in good condition and repair, and as an incentive to 
encourage community redevelopment, a community redevelopment tax incentive 
program is hereby established as authorized by Article IX, Section II, Paragraph VII(d) 
of the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia.  

  
Section 38-161 – Definitions.  

Blighted property, blighted, or blight means any urbanized or developed property which:  
  (A) Presents two or more of the following conditions:  

(1) Uninhabitable, unsafe, or abandoned structure;   



  
  
  

2  
  

(2) Inadequate provisions for rain, ventilation, light, air, or sanitation;   
(3)  An imminent harm to life or other property caused by fire, flood, hurricane, 
tornado, earthquake, storm, or other natural catastrophe respecting which the governor 
has declared a state of emergency  under the state law or has certified the need for 
disaster assistance under federal law; provided, however, this division shall not apply  to 
property unless the relevant public agency has given notice in  writing to the property 
owner regarding specific harm caused by the property and the owner has failed to take 
reasonable measures to remedy the harm;   
(4) A site identified by the federal Environmental Protection Agency as a superfund 
site pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., or having environmental contamination 
to an extent that requires remedial investigation or a feasibility study;   
(5)Repeated illegal activity on the individual property of which the property owner knew 
or should have known; or   
(6)The maintenance of the property is below state, county, or municipal codes for at least 
one year after written notice of the code violation to its owner; and  
  
 (B) Is conducive to ill health, transmission of disease, infant mortality, or crime in the 
immediate proximity of the property. Property shall not be deemed blighted solely 
because of esthetic conditions.  
  
 ’Building Inspector’ means a certified inspector possessing the requisite qualifications to 
determine minimal code compliance.  
 
‘Code official’ means the City Manager or such officer or employee of the City as 
designated by the City Manager to perform the duties and responsibilities  hereafter set 
forth in this article. 
 
‘Community redevelopment’ means any activity, project, or service necessary  or 
incidental to achieving the redevelopment or revitalization of a redevelopment  area or 
portion thereof designated for redevelopment through an urban  redevelopment plan or 
thorough local ordinances relating to the repair, closing, and demolition of buildings 
and structures unfit for human habitation.  
 
‘Governing authority’ means the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro, a 
Georgia municipal corporation.  
  
‘Millage’ or ‘millage rate’ means the levy, in mills, which is established by the   
governing authority for purposes of financing, in whole or part, the levying  jurisdiction’s 
general fund expenses for the fiscal year.  



3  
  

  
‘Person’ means such individual(s), partnership, corporations, business entities and 
associations which return real property for ad valorem taxation or who are  chargeable by 
law for the taxes on the property.  
 

Section 38-162 – Levy of increase ad valorem tax on blighted real property.  
  
    There is hereby levied on all property within the City which has been  
officially identified as maintained in a blighted condition an increased ad valorem  tax by 
adding a factor as reflected in the City’s Schedule of Rates, Fines, and Fees in effect at the 
time of designation as blighted to the millage rate applied to the property, so that such 
property shall be taxed at a higher millage rate generally applied in the municipality, or 
otherwise provided by general law; provided, however, Residential property on which there 
is situated a dwelling house which is being occupied as the primary residence of one or more 
persons shall not be subject to official identification as maintained in a blighted condition 
and shall not be subject to increased taxation. Detached single family dwelling units, 
whether occupied or not, shall also not be subject to designation as blighted or be subjected 
to increased taxation. 
 
     Such increased ad valorem tax shall be applied and reflected in the first tax bill   
 rendered following official designation of a real property as blighted.    
  
     Revenues arising from the increased rate of ad valorem taxation shall, upon   
 receipt, be segregated by the City Manager and used only for community redevelopment 
purposes, as identified in an approved urban redevelopment program, including defraying the 
cost of the City’s program to close, repair, or demolish unfit buildings and structures.  
  
Section 38-163 – Official identification of property maintained in blighted condition.  
  
(A) In order for a parcel of real property to be officially designated as maintained in a blighted 

condition and subject to increased taxation, the following steps must be completed:  
  
(1) An inspection must be performed on the parcel of property.  In order for an inspection to be 
performed,  
  

a. A request may be made by the code official or by at least one     
  resident of the City for inspection of a parcel of property, said     
  inspection to be based on the criteria as delineated in ordinance, or 

          
b.  The code official may cause a survey of existing housing conditions to be           
performed, or may refer to any such survey conducted or finalized within the 
previous five years, to locate or identify any parcels which may be in a blighted 
condition and for which a full inspection should be conducted to determine if that 



  
  
  

4  
  

parcel of property meets the criteria set out in this article for designation as being 
maintained in a blighted condition.  

 
c. Any individual request or survey produced under this subsection shall be 
reviewed, amended as desired, and approved at open meeting by Mayor and 
Council before any further action is undertaken. 

  
(2) A written inspection report of the findings for any parcel of property inspected 
pursuant to subsection (1) above shall be prepared and submitted to the code official. 
Where feasible, photographs of the conditions found to exist on the property on the date 
of inspection shall be made and supplement the inspection report. Where compliance 
with minimum construction, housing, occupancy, fire and life safety codes in effect    
within the City are in question, the inspection shall be conducted by an inspector 
possessing the requisite qualifications to determine minimal code compliance.  

  
(3) Following completion of the inspection report, the code official shall make a 
determination, in writing, that a property is maintained in a blighted condition, as defined 
by this article, and is subject to increased taxation.  

  
(4) The code official shall cause a written notice of his determination that the real 
property at issue is being maintained in a blighted condition to be served upon the 
person(s) shown on the most recent tax digest of Bulloch County as responsible for 
payment of ad valorem taxes assessed thereon;  provided, however, where through the 
existence of reasonable diligence it  becomes known to the code official that real 
property has been sold or conveyed since publication of the most recent tax digest, 
written notice shall be given to the person(s) known or reasonably believed to then own 
the property or be chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes thereon, at the best 
address available.  Service in the manner set forth at O.C.G.A. § 41-2-12 shall constitute 
sufficient notice to the property’s owner or person chargeable with the payment of ad 
valorem taxes for purpose of this section, except that posting of the notice on the 
property will not be required.  

  
(B)       The written notice given to the person(s) chargeable with the payment of ad      
 valorem taxes shall notify such person of the code official’s determination the real   
  property is being maintained in a blighted condition and shall advise such person    
  of the hours and location at which the person may inspect and copy the code       
 official’s determination and any supporting documentation.  Persons notified that     
  real property of which the person(s) is chargeable with the payment of ad valorem    
  taxes shall have 30 days from the receipt of notice in which to request a hearing    



5  
  

  before the Municipal Court.  Written request for hearing shall be filed with the      
  code official and shall be date stamped upon receipt.  Upon receipt of a request      
  for hearing, the code official shall notify the Municipal Court and the building      
  inspector or person who performed the inspection and prepared the inspection      
  report.  
  
(C)      Within 30 days of receipt of a request for hearing, the Municipal Court Clerk      

 shall set a date, time, and location for the hearing and shall give at least ten     
 business days’ notice to the person(s) requesting the hearing, the code official and   
 the building inspector or person who performed the inspection and prepared the     
 inspection report.  Notice of scheduled hearings shall be published as a legal      
 advertisement in the Statesboro Herald, or other designated legal organ in      
 Bulloch County, at least five days prior to the hearing.  Hearings may be         
 continued by the Municipal Court judge upon request of any party, for good       
 cause.    

  
(D) At the hearing, the code official shall have the burden of demonstrating by a          

preponderance of the evidence that the subject property is maintained in a blighted condition, 
as defined by this article.  The Municipal Court judge shall cause a record of the evidence 
submitted at the hearing to be maintained. Upon hearing from the code official and/or their 
witnesses and the person(s) requesting the hearing and/or their witnesses, the Judge of 
Municipal Court shall make a determination either affirming or reversing the determination 
of the code official.  The determination shall be in writing and copies thereof shall be served 
on the parties by certified mail or statutory overnight delivery.  The determination by the 
court shall be deemed final.  A copy of such determination shall also be served upon the Tax 
Commissioner of  Bulloch County, who shall include the increased tax on the next regular 
tax bill rendered on behalf of the City.  

 
(E) Persons aggrieved by the determination of the court affirming the determination of the code 

official may petition the Superior Court of Bulloch County for a writ of certiorari within 30 
days of issuance of the court’s written determination.  

  
Section 38-164 – Remediation or redevelopment to remove designation of blighted 
condition.  
  
(A) A property owner or person(s) who is chargeable with the payment of ad       

 valorem taxes on real property which has been officially designated pursuant      
 to this article as property maintained in a blighted condition may petition the        
 code official to lift the designation, upon proof of compliance with the        
 following:  
 
(1) Completion of work required under a plan of remedial action or          
redevelopment approved by the City’s Director of Planning and Development which 



  
  
  

6  
  

addresses the conditions of blight found to exist on or within the property, including 
compliance with all applicable minimum codes; or   
 
(2) Completion of work required under a court order entered in a proceeding brought 
pursuant to Article II of this Chapter. 

  
(B) Before action on a petition to lift the designation, the code official shall cause the       

property to be thoroughly inspected by a building inspector who, by written inspection 
report, shall certify that all requisite work has been performed to applicable code in a 
workmanlike manner, in accordance with the specifications of the plan of remedial action or 
redevelopment, or applicable court order.  Upon finding required work to be satisfactorily 
performed, the code official shall issue a written determination that the real property is no 
longer maintained in a blighted condition. Copies of this determination shall be served upon 
the person(s) chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes, and upon the Tax 
Commissioner of Bulloch County.  

  
(C) All plans for remedial action or redevelopment shall be in writing, signed by the person(s) 

chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes on the real property and the City’s Director 
of Planning and Development, and contain the following:    

  
1. The plan shall be consistent with the City’s comprehensive plan and all laws and 
ordinances governing the subject property, and shall conform to any urban 
redevelopment plan adopted for the area within which the properties lies;  
 
2.The plan shall set forth in reasonable detail the requirements for repair,        
closure, demolition, or restoration of existing structures, in accordance with minimal 
statewide codes; where structures are demolished, the plan shall include provisions for 
debris removal, stabilization, and landscaping of the property;  
 
3.On parcels of five acres or greater, the plan shall address the relationship to local 
objectives respecting land uses, improved traffic, public transportation, public utilities, 
recreational and community facilities, and other  public improvements.  

  
4. The plan shall contain verifiable funding sources which will be used to       

complete its requirements and show the feasibility thereof;  
  

5. The plan shall contain a timetable for completion of required work; and  
  



7  
  

6. Any outstanding ad valorem taxes (state, school, county and city, including the 
increased tax pursuant to this article) and governmental liens due and payable on the 
property must be satisfied in full.    

  
Section 38-165 – Decreased rate of taxation to be applied after successful remedial action or 
redevelopment of blighted property.  
  

Property which has had its designation as being maintained in a blighted condition 
removed as provided in this section will become eligible for a decrease in the rate of city 
ad valorem taxation equivalent to 50 percent of the normal millage rate applied to the 
property, applied at the time of issuance of the subsequent tax bill, as provided by general 
law. This decreased rate is applied to three years tax bills. 

  
Section 38-166 – Duty of code official to provide notice to county tax commissioner.  
  
It shall be the duty of the building official to notify the Tax Commissioner of Bulloch County in 
writing as to designation or removal of designation of a specific property as maintained in a 
blighted condition.  Such notice shall identify the specific property by street address and tax 
map, block and parcel number, as assigned by the Bulloch County Tax Assessor’s Office.  The 
code official shall cooperate with the tax commissioner to assure accurate tax billing of those 
properties subject to increased or reduced ad valorem taxation under this article.     
            

  
  
  

  

  

  

  
  
  

  



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phillip A. Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff B. Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

Date: October 10, 2023 

 

RE: October 17, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Consideration of amendment to Service Delivery Strategy to create 

wastewater service area for the City of Brooklet. 

 

Recommendation: Approve 

 

Background: Current SDS was executed in 2019. Proposed amendment is 

necessary to allow Brooklet to establish a wastewater service area. The City of 

Statesboro and Brooklet currently have an IGA in place for Brooklet to purchase 

wastewater capacity. However, the agreement cannot be activated without the 

approval of the SDS amendment. 

 

Budget Impact: N/A 

 

Council Person and District: All 

 

Attachments: Proposed SDS amendment  



COUNTY: BULLOCH
I. GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS:

1. FORM 1 is required for ALL SDS submittals.  Only one set of these forms should be submitted per county. The completed
forms shall clearly present the collective agreement reached by all cities and counties that were party to the service
delivery strategy.

2. List each local government and/or authority that provides services included in the service delivery strategy in Section II
below.

3. List all services provided or primarily funded by each general purpose local government and/or authority within the county
that are continuing without change in Section III, below. (It is acceptable to break a service into separate components if this will facilitate
description of the service delivery strategy.)

OPTION A 
Revising or Adding to the SDS 

OPTION B 
Extending the Existing SDS 

4. List all services provided or primarily funded by each
general purpose local government and authority within
the county which are revised or added to the SDS in
Section IV, below. (It is acceptable to break a service into separate
components if this will facilitate description of the service delivery
strategy.)

5. For each service or service component listed in Section
IV, complete a separate, updated Summary of Service
Delivery Arrangements form (FORM 2).

6. Complete one copy of the Certifications form (FORM 4)
and have it signed by the authorized representatives of
participating local governments. [Please note that DCA cannot
validate the strategy unless it is signed by the local governments
required by law (see Instructions, FORM 4).]

4. In Section IV type, “NONE.”

5. Complete one copy of the Certifications for Extension of
Existing SDS form (FORM 5) and have it signed by the
authorized representatives of the participating local
governments. [Please note that DCA cannot validate the strategy
unless it is signed by the local governments required by law (see
Instructions, FORM 5).]

6. Proceed to step 7, below.

7. If any of the conditions described in the existing Summary of Land Use Agreements form (FORM 3) have changed or if it
has been ten (10) or more years since the most recent FORM 3 was filed, update and include FORM 3 with the submittal.

8. Provide the completed forms and any attachments to your regional commission.  The regional commission will upload
digital copies of the SDS documents to the Department’s password-protected web-server.

NOTE:   ANY FUTURE CHANGES TO THE SERVICE DELIVERY ARRANGEMENTS DESCRIBED ON THESE FORMS WILL REQUIRE AN UPDATE OF THE SERVICE DELIVERY 
STRATEGY AND SUBMITTAL OF REVISED FORMS AND ATTACHMENTS TO THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS UNDER THE “OPTION A” 

PROCESS DESCRIBED, ABOVE. 

For answers to most frequently asked questions on 
Georgia’s Service Delivery Act, links and helpful 

publications, visit DCA’s website at 
http://www.dca.ga.gov/development/PlanningQ

ualityGrowth/programs/servicedelivery.asp,  
or call the Office of Planning and Quality Growth at 

(404) 679-5279.
 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY 

FORM 1

Page 1 of 2 

http://www.dca.ga.gov/development/PlanningQualityGrowth/programs/servicedelivery.asp
http://www.dca.ga.gov/development/PlanningQualityGrowth/programs/servicedelivery.asp


II. LOCAL GOVERNMENTS INCLUDED IN THE SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY:
In this section, list all local governments (including cities located partially within the county) and authorities that provide services included in the service 
delivery strategy. 
Bulloch County 
City of Statesboro 
Town of Brooklet 
Town of Portal 
Town of Register 
Development Authority of Bulloch County 
Statesboro Housing Authority 
Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau 
Statesboro-Bulloch County Land Bank Authority 
III. SERVICES INCLUDED IN THE EXISTING SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY THAT ARE BEING EXTENDED WITHOUT
CHANGE:
In this section, list each service or service component already included in the existing SDS which will continue as previously agreed with no need for 
modification.

Airport  
Animal Shelter/Control 
Code Enforcement 
Courts  
Development Services 
Downtown Development 
Economic Development 
Elections and Voter Registration 
Emergency 911 
Emergency Management 
Emergency Medical and Rescue 
Engineering 
Fire Protection 
Housing and Urban Redevelopment 
Indigent Defense 
Jail  
Law Enforcement 
Library 
Natural Gas 
Parks and Recreation 
Planning and Zoning 
Public Health Services 
Public Housing 
Recycling 
Road and Street Construction 
Road and Street Maintenance 
Senior Citizens Program/Title 3 
Social Services /Public Health 
Solid Waste Collection/Recycling 
Solid Waste Disposal 
Stormwater 
Tourism 



IV. SERVICES THAT ARE BEING REVISED OR ADDED IN THIS SUBMITTAL:
In this section, list each new service or new service component which is being added and each service or service component which is being revised in this 
submittal.  For each item listed here, a separate Summary of Service Delivery Arrangements form (FORM 2) must be completed.  
Wastewater 
Water 

Page 2 of 2 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Instructions: 
 
Make copies of this form and complete one for each service listed on FORM 1, Section IV. Use EXACTLY the same service names listed on FORM 1. 
Answer each question below, attaching additional pages as necessary. If the contact person for this service (listed at the bottom of the page) changes, this 
should be reported to the Department of Community Affairs. 

 

COUNTY:BULLOCH Service:Wastewater 

 
 
1. Check one box that best describes the agreed upon delivery arrangement for this service: 
 

a.)   Service will be provided countywide (i.e., including all cities and unincorporated areas) by a single service provider. 
(If this box is checked, identify the government, authority or organization providing the service.):      
 

 
b.)   Service will be provided only in the unincorporated portion of the county by a single service provider. (If this box is 
checked, identify the government, authority or organization providing the service.):       
 
 
c.)   One or more cities will provide this service only within their incorporated boundaries, and the service will not be 
provided in unincorporated areas. (If this box is checked, identify the government(s), authority or organization providing the 
service:       
 
 
d.)   One or more cities will provide this service only within their incorporated boundaries, and the county will provide the 
service in unincorporated areas. (If this box is checked, identify the government(s), authority or organization providing the 
service.):       
 
 
e.)   Other (If this box is checked, attach a legible map delineating the service area of each service provider, and 
identify the government, authority, or other organization that will provide service within each service area.): City of 
Brooklet, City of Statesboro, Town of Portal 
 

 
2. In developing this strategy, were overlapping service areas, unnecessary competition and/or duplication of this service 

identified? 
 

Yes  (if “Yes,” you must attach additional documentation as described, below)     
 

No 
 
If these conditions will continue under this strategy, attach an explanation for continuing the arrangement (i.e., 
overlapping but higher levels of service (See O.C.G.A. 36-70-24(1)), overriding benefits of the duplication, or reasons that 
overlapping service areas or competition cannot be eliminated). 
 
If these conditions will be eliminated under the strategy, attach an implementation schedule listing each step or action that 
will be taken to eliminate them, the responsible party and the agreed upon deadline for completing it. 

Page 1 of 2 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY  

FORM 2:  Summary of Service Delivery Arrangements 
 



 
 
 
 
3. List each government or authority that will help to pay for this service and indicate how the service will be funded (e.g., 

enterprise funds, user fees, general funds, special service district revenues, hotel/motel taxes, franchise taxes, impact 
fees, bonded indebtedness, etc.). 

                                   
Local Government or Authority Funding Method 

City of Statesboro SPLOST, Water-sewer fund, Grants, CDBG 
Town of Portal SPLOST, Water-sewer fund, Grants, CDBG 
City of Brooklet SPLOST, Water-sewer fund, Grants, CDBG 
            
            
            

 
4. How will the strategy change the previous arrangements for providing and/or funding this service within the county? 

 

Each municipality is authorized, but not required, to provide wastewater service within their sewer service area. The City 
of Brooklet has been added as a service provider. Funding methods have been added for the City of Brooklet. A Brooklet 
service area map and Intergovernmental Agreements have been attached. 
 

 
5. List any formal service delivery agreements or intergovernmental contracts that will be used to implement the strategy for 

this service: 
                       

Agreement Name Contracting Parties Effective and Ending Dates 
Brooklet-Sboro Wastewater City of Brooklet, City of Statesboro 7/20/2023-7/24/2073 
Bulloch-Statesboro 301 TAD1 Bulloch County, City of Statesboro 3/5/2013-3/5/2063 
                  
                  
                  
                  

 
6. What other mechanisms (if any) will be used to implement the strategy for this service (e.g., ordinances, resolutions, local 

acts of the General Assembly, rate or fee changes, etc.), and when will they take effect? 
 

N/A 

 
7. Person completing form: James Pope 

Phone number: 912-764-6245          Date completed: 8/10/2023 
 
8. Is this the person who should be contacted by state agencies when evaluating whether proposed local   government 

projects are consistent with the service delivery strategy? Yes No 
 
If not, provide designated contact person(s) and phone number(s) below: 

   TOM COUCH, BULLOCH COUNTY MANAGER, 912-764-6245; CHARLES PENNY, CITY OF STATESBORO CITY 
MANAGER, 912-764-5468 

 

SDS FORM 2, continued 
 

Page 2 of 2 



REGISTER

STATESBORO

B
U

R
K

H
A

LT
E

R
R

D

PARRISH RD

PULASKI RD

H
A

R
V

IL
LE

 R
D

Y
O

U
N

G
B

LO
OD

RD

C
AW

A
N

A R
D

COLEY BOYD RD

RUSHING
RD

CYPRESS LAKE RD

OLD REGISTER WAY

JOSH DEAL RD

OLD BOWEN STORE RD

EL
LI

S 
R

D

C
O

U
N

TR
Y

C
LU

B
RD

HI
G

HT
O

W
ER

R
D

ARENA
B

LV
D

LANGSTON CHAPEL RD

BRANNEN RD

GUS DENMARK RD

MARIA S O RRE
LL

RD

A
J RIGGS

RD

WILLIAMS RD

WESTSIDE RD

LA
KE

V
IEW

R
D

MILL CREEK RD

BR
AN

N
EN

 D
R

PRETO
RIA

RUSHING
RD

MILLER ST EX

O
LD

 R
EG

IS
TE

R
 R

D

HAMP S
TE

A
D

AV

AM
A

N
D

A
R

D

M
Y

R
TLE

LN

JOSH SMITH RD

TRYON PL

CI
RC

LE

D
R

GOLF CLUB RD

P
O

W
E

L L

PL

WESTBE
N

D
R

D

EMIT GROVE RD

H
A

R
M

ON
YCHURCH RD

PINEMOUNT BLVD

H
O

O
D

R
D

EL
LIS

W
OOD DR

BANKS DAIRY RD

PAT MOCK RD

S
TO

N
EBROOK

W
AY

P
IP

P
I N

PL

IRO

NGATE

P L

CANADY CT

CA
M

BR
ID

GE
RD

N
E

SS
M

ITH
 R

D

MUD RD

AL
LE

N
W

O
O

D
DR

LO
NG

W
O

O
D

D R

O
LD

RIGG
S

M
ILL

RD

DEERFIELD DR

CO
VE

C
T

ADD ISONTR

CO
U

NTR
Y

W
A

LK
DR

B
R

O
O

K
LE

T
D

E
N

M
AR

K
R

D

BEASLEY RD

W
E

S
T

DR

AIR PORT B LV
D

CA R

O
LIN

A
TR

BIRD RD

G
W

O
LI

V
E

R
S

PU
R

CH
E

RR
Y

S
T

JA
C

K
K

E
NN

ED

Y RD

G
O

LF
C

LU
B

CI
R

A
K

IN
S

A
N

D
E RS ON RD S

W
O

O
DR

UM
RD

S

BR
U

IS
E

R

CIR

JOSH HAGIN RD

POINTE R RD

H
A

W

KSHAW CIR

TE E PE E WAY

J A HART RD ZETTWELL RD

C OLUMBU
S

DR

PLA NTATION
TR

LANDFILL RD

S
IN

K
H

O
LE

R
D

RIGGS

MILL LN

B
IL

LY
M

IK
E

LL
R

D

KENNEDY

POND RD

ALDERMAN RD

HIG
HPOINT RD

PA
TR

ICK
WAY

PINEVIEW
RD

CANTERB ERRY P L

S HUMAN
DR

LAU
R

E
L

O AK DR

C
O

A
C

H
S

W
AY

G
R

IM
S

H
A

W
R

D

O
R

LEAN
S

T
R

P B BRANNEN RD

BROOKLETSO
U

TH
DR

SIM
ONS R

D

OGEECHEE DR E

BELL RD

HODGESCIR

SURREY LN

HUCKNA L L PL

FURMANRD

AK
IN

S
ANDERSO

N
RD

EVILLAG
E

D
R

N RANDY LOWERY RD

RIG
GS

MILL DR

JO
HNSON DR

GATEWAY BLV
D

LA
N

IE
R

D
R

SOUTH W YNN RD

DODD
CIR

TI
M

B
E

RL
IN

E
R

D

PARKER RD

H
AR

RIS
RD

ROBBINS RD

MO

NARCH CIR

CLI
FT

ON R
D

UNION CHURCH RD

SAM
 TILLM

AN RD

MISTY
C

T

B
O

O
S

TE
R

B
LV

D

SHAW RD

ELMER PHILLIPS RD

AKINS SMITH RD

PINE B LUFF
DR

NEVILLE DAIRY RD

JONES MILL RD

FR
A

N
K

LIN
RD

B
E

LLA
TE

R
R

A
R

D

DENTO
N

LP

W
E

STOVERD
R

W
E

S
T 

P
O

IN
T 

R
D

N
JA

CK

SON RD

IBO ANDERSON LN

H
IL

LWOOD DR

FR
I E

N
D

S
H

IP
C

H
U

R
C

H
R

D

G W OLIVER RD

LILAC LN

AL
LE

NCIR

JIM
PS RD

RIG G S
C

IR

JIM WATERS RD

SOUTHBE
ND

DR

O
C

B
A

N
K

S
R

D

GROOVER
OLD

MILL
RD

MISTY LN

IB
O

AN
DERS

O
N

R
D

HE
ND

RI
XCIR

LIN
C

OLN
ST

ZERA LN

BRAGG
CHESTER RD

FRINK RD

EV
E

LY
N

S
LN

CHURCH ST

AS

HLEY LN

FO

REST PINE DR

KELLYS PO
N

D
 R

D

OLD KING RD

ALM
A

LN

ISAAC AKINS RD

LEYLAND RD

N
E

W
S

O
M

E
LN

REBEKAH
RD

JOE KEN NE DY

B
LV

D

BIRD LN

DOY L ANIER RD

MINCEY RD

BR

ENTWOO
D

CIR

G
E

R
M

A
IN

E
 L

N

C
O

BB R
D

G
O

RDO
N

BEASLEY
RD

POLK RDN

ADEN

LANIER RD

OAK
RIDG

E DR

GOLDKIST RD

R
E

D
FE

R
N

LN

LE
W

IS
D

EA
L

R
D

PIN
E

 IN
N

 R
D

KE
V

IN
D

E
AL

RD

ROCKY RD

COX FARM RD

JO
H

N
N

Y
B

R
A

N
N

E
N

R
D

BU
D 

LE
E 

LN

S
AND S

RAILROAD BED RD

SO
U

TH
W

ELL LN

CLITO RD

SA
N

D
 S

P
U

R
 R

D

HENRY BLITCH RD

KEY AKINS RD

J
S

N
E

S
M

I T
H

R
D

GRIMS
H

A
W

LN

CARTER SMITH RD

C
O

LF
A

X
ST

AT
IO

N
DR

TILLMAN POND RD

J
R

C
H

E
S

TE
R

R
D

TR
AP

NE
LL

 R
D

GUS
D

EN
M

ARK
LN

STEPHENS LITTLE RD

MIKE AKINS RD

BRAN

NEN CE M
ET

ER
Y

RD

H
A

G
IN

 LN

P
LA

N
TA TIO

N

POINTE
DR

WATERS CEMETERY RD

B
R

U
C

E
G

R
O

O
V

E
R

RD

TURKEY TR

C. BROWN RD

JAPPY

A
KI

NS
RD

MAT
HEW

S R
D

BE
U

LA
H

 LN

GEORGE M
OORE RD

FRANCES LN

O
LL IFF

R
D

BLANKENBAKER
R

D

S
E

ABORN
PRO

CTO

R RD

BRANNEN FARM RD E

LEON

N
EW

S
OME

RD

AL
FO

R
D

 R
D

ZELL MILLER PKWY

HOMER BUNCH RD

JO
H

N
R

C
O

LE
M

A
N

R
D

E
M

IT
D

EA
L

RD

BU
N

C
E LN

VERA LN

FO
S

TE
R

W
IL LIA

M
S

R
D

BRAGAN RD

OLD HARDY PLACE RD

BRANNEN FARM RD W

B
IL

L
S

IM
M

ON
S

RD

TONY NEVIL RD

COLFAX RD

JO
DA

N
R

D

JO DAN RD S

HAZ ELWOOD DR

M
c C

A
L L

BL
VD

CHARLIE LN

RA

MBLEWOOD

D R

§̈¦16
§̈¦16

GR
EENHAVENDR

TILLMANPARK

NASSAU
DR

EM
IL

Y 
AV

AS
HB

RO
O

KE
DR

CO
LL

EG
E

VI
EW

YELLOW
PINE PL

RAILROAD

JU
NCTIO

N

PLANTERS
LN

U
NI

VERSITYPINES

BA
HI

A 
ST

BUBBA LN

D
R

Y

B RA
N

C
H

D
R

MAGNOLIA
WAY

BONDAVE

LN

SA

N DP IPER

DR

LAU
R

EL

PO
IN

TE C
IR

P
IC

K
E

T
FE

NC
E

DR ENGLIS
HOAK S

BLV
D

BURKHALTE
R

M
H

P

O
LD

BAR
N

 R
D

HO
PECRE

S
T

R
D

WILLIS WAY

NI
CO

LE
 A

V

AU
TU

M
N

AV

BUC
K

HAVEN

W
AY

FA
R

M
I

N GT O N
R

D BOA RDW
ALK

BA
Y

TR
E

E
LN

GARDENDISTRICT

N
O

T
N

AM
ED

ST
AD

IU
M

W
AL

K

ALLM
AN

AV

PECANALY

T E A

L
CI

R

DOPPLER

DR

W

HIP P O
O

RW
IL

L
D

R

SHORT

LINE BLV
D

W
ED

GE
FIELD
WAY

LESTERCT
LEDBURY

CV

PO
R

TLA
N

D
 PL

LILLY
ST

TU
SC

AN
Y

TR

C
YP

R
ES

S
LA

KE
 C

T

UNNAM
ED

BULLBAY
DR

MILT
ON LN

S
K

Y
E

VI E W DR

CULP LN

PA
R

K
AV

JODI
PL

S
P

E
N

D
O

LL
C

T

CELO
CIR

DOYLE
LN

MEEKS
DR

BL
UF

F
OA

K
DR

WHITN
E

Y

WAY

STEPHENDR

LILY
PAD L N

HOLMS ST

FE
SC

UE

D
R

ALLEN CAILDR

B 
&

D
 L

N

PARADISECV

WEXFO
RD

LN

CHA

N A BBY C
T

W
CHERRY ST

H
O

N
EY

 L
N

BI
RC

H
LN

FI
RE

TH
O

RN
E

D
R

RO
W

TO
N

W
AY

SHA NE
R D

DAPHNEY

LN

FAY
D

R

OL
LI

FF
HI

LL
LN

SIM
ONS

CIR

Q
U

AIL

H
ILL D

R

COLLEGE

PLZ

TRANQ

U IL

BRID
G

E LN

KINSINGTON

CIR

SABLELN

FLAM ING
O

LN

BERT ST

DEWPOINTDR

GLAZEBROO
K

AV

RUTLE DGE

LN

BO
YD

LN

TERRY
LN

WLEY
LA

ND

CT

SAR
A

LYN
 LN

N
EV

IL
LE

LN

AGGIE
S

LN

BE
C

KY
D

R

EARLYLN

UN
K

N
O

W
N

EAGLES
CT

SKYE
D

R

HAMPTONSAPTS

BE
AU

MO
N T

DR

EXCALIBUR CT

R
AN

C
H

 R
D

A
B

B
E

YR
D

DAKOTA

LN

NORTHP
O

IN
T

DR

BR
OO

KL
ET

AI
RP

O
RT

LN

SOUTHWELL LN

UNKNO
W

N

RD

MCCORMICK PL

BRIGH TO
N

W
AY

CANDYLN

JU
LIEDR

B
ULLO

C
H

AC
A

DEM
Y

R
D

FOUNDERS
CIR

DA
N

W
ATE RS LN

G
EO

RG
E

SA
BB

RD

W
AL

DO
CO

LS
O

N
R

D

WATERS
LN

FR
E

DW

ILLIAMS

RD

JOHNDA
N IELLN

RO
CK

Y
RD

 N

SASSYS
LN

CHARLES

TON

A
V

A
R

CHER

RD

SM
ALL

PO
N

D
 LN

OLYM
P

IC

BLV
D

MEMORY LN

IRON
HORSE RD

CROSSW

AY

COTTA
GES

LN

SU
GA

RBERRY CT

BOHLER RIMES
RD

C
ED

AR
AC

R
ES

 R
D

GR

OVE
CIR

MELROSE RD

LAKE

DR

BELLATERRA RD

FR
ON

IESCIR

W
IN

D
E

ME

RE DR

WOODDUCK LN

DR
IV

EW
A

Y

W
HITE

PIN

E AV

G
AR

RE
TTS

LA
KE

RD

CASSIEREE RD

PLANTATION
CIR

G
LE

N
B

R

Y ANT WAYJM
ROYA

L LN

ALLISON

LN

LONG
LEAF RD

W
O

LF
P

EN
LN

BE
LM

ON
T

AV

BO
HL

ER
LN

C
A

RL

LANIER

R
D

BRANNEN
FARM LN

HE
RO

N S

W

K

PRETORIA
LN

RA
ND

Y
LO

W
ER

Y
RD

TURFRD

JO
NES

BROTHERS
LN

BU
R

K
HA

LT
ER

RD

JIM WATERS RD

P
O

N
DSIDE

DR

MEEKS
DR

FO
UN

DERS

CIR

£¤80

£¤301

£¤25

£¤25

£¤301

£¤301

£¤80

£¤301

REGISTER

STATESBORO

¬«24

¬«67

¬«67

¬«46

0 0.45 0.9 1.35 1.80.225
Miles

/

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY

Bulloch Limits

Statesboro Water Supply Area

Brooklet Water Service Area

CC II TT YY  OO FF  SS TT AA TT EE SS BB OO RR OO
WASTEWATER SERVICE AREA



MUD RD

CLITO
R

D

BURKHALTER RD

OLD LEEFIELD RD

Y
O

U
N

G
B

LO
OD

RD

BROOKLET LEEFIELD RD

RUSHING RD

PRATHER RD

ZETTWELL RD

HA GAN MILL POND RD

PLESS CLIFTO
N

 RD

DOE DR

STILSON LEEFIELD RD

AR
C

O
LA

 R
D

HIGHW
AY

46

PRETO
RIA

RUSHING
RD

AM
AN

D
A

R
D

EMIT GROVE RD

C
LE

V
Y

 D
E

LO
A

C
H

 R
D

CI
RC

LE

D
R

O
LD

 H
A

P
P

Y
 R

D

BRAGAN RD

C
LE

A
R

Y
R

D

JA
CKIE HART RD

P
IP

P
I N

PL

C
O

D
Y 

LN

FIV
E

C
H

O
P

R
D

CANADY CT

N
O

TT
IN

G
H

A
M

R
D

CA
MB

RI
DG

E
RD

H
IG

H
C

O
TTO

N
D

R

J W
LANE

RD

W
I N DS O R

R
D

BR
O

O
KL

ET
 D

EN
M

AR
K 

R
D

W
E

S
T DR

ROCKER RD

CH
ER

RY
S

T

JOSH HAGIN RD

TE E PEE WAY

J A HART RD

BUIE DRIGGERS RD

BRANNEN RD

RAILROAD BED RD

LEE AV

ALDERMAN RD

PINEVIEW
R

D

P W CLIFTON RD

R
P

M
ILLE

R
RD

OLD FLAT FORJD
 RD

LAU
R

E
L

O A K DR

G
R

IM
S

H
A

W
R

D

SOUTH WYNN RD

BROOKLETSO
U

TH
DR

OGEECHEE DR E

BELL RD

OLD
RIVE

R
RD

S

GUS DENMARK RD

LEE RD

BENNETT
G

RO
O

M
S

RD

JO
HNSON DR

O
LD

M
C

E
LV

E
EN

R
D

OLD
TH

ORN
PO

ND
RD

SHUMAN RD

MISTY
C

T

SHAW RD

JONES MILL RD

SP
RI

NG
 C

RE
EK

 R
D

B
E

LLA
TE

R
R

A
R

D

DENTO
N

LP

BR
YA

N
T 

ST
IL

L 
R

D

BRANNEN POND RD

M
P

MARTIN
RD

N
JA

CKSON
RD

LILAC LN

BUNCH RD

HONEY DEW LN

BUIE RD

AL
EX

KN
IG

HT
RD

BRINSO
N

RD

B
LA

C
K

C
R

E
E

K
C

H
U

R
C

H
R

D

HYNKO RD

MISTY LN

W
YATT RD

NEVILS DENMARK RD

LIN
C

OLN
ST

AY
CO

CK
 R

D

B

RAGG
CHESTER

R D

DEPO
T

D
R

E
V

E

RETT LN

ROUGH RIDER RD

M
C

E
LV

E
EN

C
E

M
E

TER
Y

RD
H

A
R

V
E

Y
R

D

CA R L

LA
N

IE
R

R
D

DO
E

LN

FIELD RD

G
E

R
M

A
IN

E
 L

N

C
O

BB R
D

ALLEN LEE RD

HOLLOWAY RD

G
W

OLIVER

RD

MINCEY RD
SA

N
D

 H
IL

L 
R

D

SUM
M

ER
W

IND
PL

COX FARM RD

W
IL

L OW LN

BU
D 

LE
E 

LN

S
O

U
TH

W
E

LL
LN

BUIE CIR

BENNETT LN

GO
BAR

LA
ND

ING RD

GRIM
S

H
A

W
LN

LANES CHURCH RD

SLATER HAGAN RD

EDENFIELD
LN

A
KINS

LN

AKINS CIR

FLOYD DR

RIVERVIEWRD

FRANCES LN

LIVE OAK LN

B
J

C
LIFTO

N
R

D

LEEFIELD
STATIO

N

RD

BLACK CREEK LN

DAVIS RD

PROSSER RD

DA
N

BE
AS

LE
YRD

K
EN

D
R

IC
K

S
RD

MANN C
ENTER R

D

SM
IT

H
 R

D

H
A

G
IN

 LN

JE
RUS

AL
EM

C
H

U
R

C
H

R
D

G
LA

D
D

IN
 R

D

B
R

U
C

E
G

R
O

O
V

E
R

R
D

P
LA

N
TATIO

N

POINTE
DR

W
O

O
D

YA
R

D
 R

D

STILSO
N

 R
D

FORDHAM RD

ROZIER RD

JAPPY

AK
IN

S
RD

BE
U

LA
H

 LN

GEORGE M
OORE RD

PAGE RD

R
O

BE
RT

SO
N

 R
D

CLIF
F

KNIGHT RD

BRAGG

RD

AL
FO

R
D

 R
D

DRIGGERS RD

HOMER BUNCH RD

BU
N

C
E LN

J R CRIBBS RD

B
IL

L
S

IM
M

ON
S

RD

C SCOTT RD

M
CE

LV
EE

N
RD

M
AG

N
O

LIA
CHU

R
C

H
RD

W
IL

SO
N 

RD

VE
NSO

N R
D

M
cC

A
LL

BL
VD

CHARLIE LN

§̈¦16
§̈¦16

WINNIE

W

AY EX

BONDAVE

LN

W
INDM

ILL

PLANTATIO
N

DR

PIC
K

ET
FE

NC
E

DR

GEORGE RD

ENGLIS

HO A KS

BLV D

BURKHALTER

M
HP

EAS
T

HAM
P

TO
N

DR

NI
CO

LE
 A

V

SA
RA

BETHDR

WOODYARDLN

DOVE LN

TRINITY
AV

MILT
ON LN

UNNAM
E

D

CULP LN

CAMDEN

CT

S
P

E
N

D
O

LL
C

T

BL
UF

F
OA

K
DR

STEPHENDR

B 
&

D
 L

N
FI

RE
TH

O
RN

E
D

R

FAY
D

R

SP
EL

L 
D

R

PA
TT

IL
N

EN
G

LI
SH

AC
RE

S 
DR

J B
LN

SABLELN

LA
NE

ST
RE

ET
ST

A

FLAM ING
O

LN

OLD
SHIRE WAY

CO
UNTRY

LN

LE
E

WIL LI
AM

S
RD

MALINAWAY

MUDDY

LN

FI
R

EF
LY

 L
N

PRIVATE DR

SIMMONS RD

BR
O

O
K

LE
T

A
IRP

O
R

T
LN

DIA NE DR

MUD
LN

SOUT HWELL LN

MCCORMICK PL

A
K

IN
S

CIR
EX

JOHNNYWHITERD

BRIGHTO
N

W
AY

CANDYLN

V
E

N
S

O
N

RD

BRO
O

KFIELD

RD

WATERS
LN

SM
IT

H
R

D

JOHN
DANIE L LN

MEMORY LN

W
H

ITA
KER

 LN

CAMP BELL LN

BAY HUNTING
CLUB RD

BELLATERRA RD

HAGAN MILLPOND RD

IN
GL

EWOOD
DR

B J CLIFTON

LN

SP
IE

R
S 

LN

TAYLORSTR

MO

ND
ELLS POND

RD

CASH
R

D

JE
N

I
W

R
IG

H
T

LN

P
RI

VA

TERD

FRANKLIN K
LN

YUCHI HAVEN LN

FALL
EN

LE
AF
DR

SOD
FARM LN

H
O

RS

E&

B
UG

GY L
N

RIVER RETREAT

PRETOR
IA

LN

MCGOW A N LN

CARL
LANIER RD

AY
C

O
C

K 
LN

SHILOHDR

HENDRIXRD

OLDHAPPY LN

£¤80

£¤80

BROOKLET

STATESBORO

¬«67

¬«119

¬«46

¬«24

0 0.45 0.9 1.35 1.80.225
Miles

/

CITY

COUNTY

GA-HWY

GSU

INTERSTATE

PRIVATE

RAMP/CONNECTOR

US-HWY

Bulloch Limits

Brooklet Sewer Service Area

C I T Y  O F  B R O O K L E TC I T Y  O F  B R O O K L E T
S E W E R  S E R V I C E  A R E AS E W E R  S E R V I C E  A R E A



WOMACK RD

PECAN GROVE RD

MOORE RD

C
L WOODS RD

AI
RP

OR
T

LN

LE
M

BO
NN

ET
T

RD

CL
AU

DI
A 

ST

RO
CK

YF
OR

D
RD

OLD
PORTAL RD

BEN GRADY COLLINS RD

GRADY SAUNDE
R S

R D

TWO CHOP RD

MET
TER RD

CHURCH
ST

GRADY ST

T OMMY JONES ST

WOODS AV
PA

UL
ST

FIRST AV

TURPENTINE DR

BOWEN ST

BONNETT RD

FORREST AV

BAPTIST ST

P ORT
AL

C RO SSI
N G

L P

BANK
ST

GREENST

PO
RTA

L
CROSS

IN
G

DR

HU
LS

EY
 ST

JOY ST

JO
HN

SO
N 

ST

FINCHST

TURNER ST

JONES ST
MULLET ROW

RAILROAD

ST

STEWART ST
COLLEGE

HEIGHTS

BALLF
I E LD RD

RO
UN

DT
RE

E
ST

CONLEY ST

PARRISH ST

AYCOCK ST

CLARK ST

MY
RA

 ST

WILLIAMS ST

COLEMAN ST

HORSEFLY RD

FACTORY RD

FARM RD

£¤80

PORTAL

T O W N  O F  P O R T A LT O W N  O F  P O R T A L
W A S T E W A T E R  C O L L E C T I O N  &  T R E A T M E N TW A S T E W A T E R  C O L L E C T I O N  &  T R E A T M E N T³

0 0.15 0.30.075 Miles



  

 
 
 
 

Instructions:  

This form must, at a minimum, be signed by an authorized representative of the following governments: 1) the county; 2) the city serving as the county 
seat; 3) all cities having a 2010 population of over 9,000 residing within the county; and 4) no less than 50% of all other cities with a 2010 population of 
between 500 and 9,000 residing within the county.  Cities with a 2010 population below 500 and local authorities providing services under the strategy are 
not required to sign this form, but are encouraged to do so. 
 
COUNTY:  BULLOCH 

 
We, the undersigned authorized representatives of the jurisdictions listed below, certify that:  

1. We have executed agreements for implementation of our service delivery strategy and the attached forms 
provide an accurate depiction of our agreed upon strategy (O.C.G.A 36-70-21); 

2. Our service delivery strategy promotes the delivery of local government services in the most efficient, 
effective, and responsive manner (O.C.G.A. 36-70-24 (1));  

3. Our service delivery strategy provides that water or sewer fees charged to customers located outside the 
geographic boundaries of a service provider are reasonable and are not arbitrarily higher than the fees 
charged to customers located within the geographic boundaries of the service provider (O.C.G.A. 36-70-24 
(20); and 

4. Our service delivery strategy ensures that the cost of any services the county government provides (including 
those jointly funded by the county and one or more municipalities) primarily for the benefit of the 
unincorporated area of the county are borne by the unincorporated area residents, individuals, and property 
owners who receive such service (O.C.G.A. 36-70-24 (3)). 

 
JURISDICTION TITLE NAME SIGNATURE DATE 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

TOWN OF BROOKLET 

TOWN OF PORTAL 

TOWN OF REGISTER 

Chairman 

Mayor 

Mayor 

Mayor 

Mayor 

 

Roy Thompson 

Jonathan McCollar 

Joe Grooms 

Billy Boggs 

Donnie Roberts 

  

 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY  

FORM 4:  Certifications 
 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  October 10, 2023 
 
RE:  FY2024 Pineland Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities (BHDD)  

TRANSIT VOUCHERS 
 
Policy Issue:  Transit Implementation Funding 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Staff recommends approval of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Pineland 
Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities (BHDD) and the City of Statesboro. Staff requests 
consideration of a motion for Council to authorize the Mayor to execute the attached MOU authorizing 
the distribution of transit vouchers by Pineland BHDD. 
 
Background:  
 
Pineland BHDD will create and distribute transit vouchers for qualified families up to the amount of 
$3,800. Each voucher will be worth a $5 one-way trip, which will total up to the amount of 760 vouchers 
to be distributed. Any used funding will rollover to the next fiscal year. 
 
Budget Impact:   
 
Pineland BHDD will use a Moderate Care Coordination Grant provided by the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) to fund up to $3,800 worth of transit vouchers. No funds will be required from the 
City of Statesboro. 
 
Council Person and District: 
 
The public transportation system will service citizens in all districts. 
 
Attachments:  Pineland MOU 
    
    



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF STATESBORO AND PINELAND BHDD 

 

1.  Parties. This Memorandum of Understanding (hereinafter referred to as 
"MOU") is made and entered into by and between the City of Statesboro, whose 
address is 50 E. Main Street, Statesboro, Georgia 30458, and Pineland Behavioral 
Health and Developmental Disabilities (BHDD), whose address is 5 West Altman 
Street, Statesboro, GA 30458. 

 
2.  Purpose. The purpose of this MOU is for Pineland BHDD to provide qualified 

families with transportation using Statesboro Area Transit (SAT).  
 

3.  Term of MOU. This MOU is effective October 2023 and shall remain in 
effect until July 2024. This MOU may be terminated, without cause, by either 
party with written notice to the address listed above by certified mail or 
delivered by hand. 

 
4.  Responsibilities of City of Statesboro. The City of Statesboro will collect and 

destroy vouchers once they have been used for transit services. Each voucher will be 
worth a one-way trip on SAT, which is equal to $5. The cost of the number of vouchers 
collected will be deducted from the $3,800 provided by Pineland BHDD. Once the funds 
are diminished, vouchers will no longer be permitted for that fiscal year. Any remaining 
funds will roll over to the next fiscal year to be used for additional transit vouchers for that 
fiscal year.  

   
5.  Responsibilities of Habitat for Humanity of Bulloch County. Pineland BHDD will 

create and distribute transit vouchers for qualified families. These vouchers will be 
numbered for tracking purposes. If the number of vouchers used/distributed exceed 
the funding available, Pineland BHDD agrees to cover the cost of excess vouchers. 

  
6. Payment. Pineland BHDD will use a Moderate Care Coordination Grant 

provided by the Federal Transit Administration to fund up to $3,800 worth of 
transit vouchers. No other funds will be required of either party. 

 
The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the 10th day of October 2023. 

 
 

City of Statesboro      Pineland BHDD 

_______________________     _______________________ 
 

Authorized Representative     Authorized Representative   
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager  

 
From:   John Washington, Director – Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  October 9, 2023 
 
RE: Recommendation of Contract Award 

ENG-122c: East Main Street Sidewalk Project – Acquisition Services for Easements Right-of-Way 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends award of the East Main Street Sidewalk Project for Acquisition Services of Easements 
and Right-of-Way (ROW) to Tennille Valuation & Consulting Services, LLC. (TVCS) in the amount of 
$32,000. The bid received from TVCS meets the requirements of the bid package. 

Background:   
This project proposes to construct sidewalk along East Main Street from Northside Drive to 
Packinghouse Road. This work is a subsequent phase of development to provide sidewalk connectivity 
from downtown Statesboro to Mill Creek Park and to provide connectivity to adjacent residential areas.  
 
The Engineering Department also requested funding assistance from Georgia Department of 
Transportation (GDOT) in the amount of $143,785.20 for construction of drainage improvements in 
conjunction with new sidewalk construction along East Main Street. The drainage improvements are 
needed to alleviate current flooding conditions along SR24 (East Main Street). Pavement improvements 
include restoring the gutters to a flowable condition. 
 
The City of Statesboro requested proposals for ROW and Easement Acquisition Services to aid in the 
ROW acquisition of this project. There are Approximately 16 parcels that require negotiations for either 
a permanent stormwater easement or right-of-way for sidewalk construction. The City is receiving state 
aid from GDOT on this project that is time sensitive and the utilization of a ROW firm to expedite the 
negotiations is essential in the City meeting the construction start date set by GDOT in order to receive 
the funding appropriated. 
 
Budget Impact: This project is to be paid from the 2018 TSPLOST fund 
 
Council Person and District: District 1, Councilmember Boyum. 
 
Attachments: Fee Proposal  



 60-0003

2/9/2023

ncobo

GPLOT-V8

gplotborder-V8i-PO.tbl

60-0003.dgn

GRWPLN

RIGHT OF WAY MAP

DRAWING No.

P.I. No.

     

     

     

7/31/2015 GRWPLN

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR OF SLOPES

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR OF DRIVES

CONSTRUCTION LIMITS

 & MAINTENANCE OF SLOPES

C F

REQUIRED R/W LINE

PROPERTY AND EXISTING R/W LINE PL

LIMIT OF ACCESS

BEGIN LIMIT OF ACCESS............BLA

END LIMIT OF ACCESS..............ELA

REQ’D R/W & LIMIT OF ACCESS

20

SCALE IN FEET

0 40 80

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATE REVISIONS

LAND DISTRICT: N/A

SH 3DATE: 12/22/22

CITY OF STATESBORO

CITY OF STATESBORO
ENG-122C

PROJECT NO: ENG-122C

COUNTY: BULLOCH

M
A
T
C

H
 
L
I

N
E
 
 
S
T

A
.
 
1
6
+
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 

D
R

A
W
I

N
G
 

N
o
.
 
6
0
-
0
0
0
4

LAND LOT NO: N/A

GMD: 1209

OF 8

      02/10/23
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

Revised parcels 5-9 & 15-16

1
1
+
0
0

1
2
+
0
0

1
3
+
0
0

1
4
+
0
0

1
5
+
0
0

1
6
+
0
0

P
C
 
1
4
+
2
9
.
1
8

P
I
 
1
5
+
4
4
.
2
6

Curve# 1

PI Sta= 15+44.26

   N= 891059.9195

   E= 778179.2632

T= 115.08

L= 229.90

R= 2000.00

E= 3.31

N
O
R
T
H
S
I
D
E
 
D
R
I
V
E

C
O

N
E
 

C
R
E
S

C
E

N
T

E MAIN STREET

EX. R/W

EX. R/W

5’ SIDEWALK (TYP)

BEGIN PROJECT

PACKINGHOUSE ROAD

STA 10+50.00

N: 891048.5213

E: 777685.1343

BEGIN CONSTRUCTION
PACKINGHOUSE ROAD
STA 10+56.34
N: 891048.6322
E: 777689.9420

2’ GRASS STRIP (TYP)

5’ SIDEWALKTYPE D CURB
CUT RAMP

TYPE B CURB
CUT RAMP

BEGIN 10", TP.4 HEADER CURB

STA 11+55.53

28.05’ LT

END 10", TP.4 HEADER CURB

STA 12+53.85

22.64’ LT

BEGIN 10", TP.4 HEADER CURB

STA 13+33.73

21.50’ LT

END 10", TP.4 HEADER CURB

STA 13+94.76

25.69’ LT

4’

4’

DURHAM PROPERTIES LLC
N/F

A FRAN PYE
RALPH EDWARD &

N/F

LEROY T SAFFORD
N/F

MORRIS E WARD
N/F

WILLIAM CANTY
N/F

C/O JB KENNEDY & ASSOCIATES
MARTHA S COLEMAN

N/F

C/O JB KENNEDY & ASSOCIATES
MARTHA S COLEMAN

N/F

GRACE C FULLER
N/F

MARY LINDA MCDUFFIE
N/F

MICHAEL E HOWARD
N/F

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

P L

P L

P LP L P L

PL

CONC.

CONC.

CONC.

CONC.

CONC.

CONC.

CONC.

CONC.

DIRT 
DIRT 

SIDEWALK

CONC
.

ASPHALT

C
O
N
C
.

CONTROL DATA TABLE

NORTH EAST ELEV. DESC.STA. OFFSETPOINT

60D NAIL4 891080.81 778127.13 14+93.31 21.07’ LT 220.98

C
O

N
C
.

F
/
L
 
2
1
1
.
8
0
’
 

3
0
 
C
3
F
3
 
D
P
P

F
/
L
 
2
1
1
.
8
0
’
 

3
0
 
C
P
P

INV.: 216.25’ 

3
0
C
3
F
3
 
D
P
P

F
/
L
 
2
1
6
.
2
5
’
 

 

   

 

   

 

     
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
  

   

 

   

 

   
 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 #4 #4 #4 #4

 #3
 #50 #50 #50 #50

 

 5RB  

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

     
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   
 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   
 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 3\4OTP  

 

   

 

   

 

   

31.00’ LT
12+83.38

68.00’ LT
15+16.00

27.00’ LT
16+33.00

30.00’ LT
16+46.00

86.00’ LT
14+88.75

31.00’ LT
14+90.00

49.00’ RT
14+13.43

25.02’ RT
14+13.00

24.88’ RT
14+40.00

49.00’ RT
14+40.00

29.00’ LT
15+81.00

31.00’ LT
14+52.06

50.00’ LT
10+73.00

35.00’ LT
10+80.00

48.90’ LT
10+68.75

31.91’ LT
10+76.19

26.38’ LT
12+82.28

25.21’ LT
13+92.58

25.37’ LT
14+48.44

25.03’ RT
14+29.19

28.10’ LT
12+11.34 23.92’ LT

15+80.43

33.00’ LT
12+12.67

30.00’ LT
13+94.06

25.84’ LT
14+86.46

25.00’ LT
16+46.00

22.00’ LT
16+34.00

5
4
"

1
8
"

24"

6
0
"REMOVE EXISTING

PIPE

REMOVE EXISTING
PIPE

DE10003

DE10006 DE10008

DE10012

DE10015

DE10016

CONST. OF SLOPES
EASM’T FOR

DE10011

DE10013

DE10065

DE10061

DE10063

DE10064

DE10014

DE10010

DE10001

DE10002

   1 

SEE SHEET 6

   2 

SEE SHEET 6

   3 

SEE SHEET 6

   4 

SEE SHEET 6

   5 

SEE SHEET 6

   6 

SEE SHEET 6

   7 

SEE SHEET 6

DE10000

DE10005

DE10007

DE10009

DE10060

DE10062

DE10004
DE10019

STA. 10+68.75

PACKINGHOUSE RD

BEGIN RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION

DE10070

DE10072

DE10071

CONST. OF SLOPES

EASM’T FOR 

TRACT 1

REQ’D R/W

REQ’D R/W

TRACT 2
REQ’D R/W

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Polygon



 60-0004

M
A
T

C
H
 
L
I

N
E
 
 
S
T

A
.
 
2
2
+
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 

D
R

A
W
I

N
G
 

N
o
.
 
6
0
-
0
0
0
5

M
A
T

C
H
 
L
I

N
E
 
 
S
T

A
.
 
1
6
+
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 

D
R

A
W
I

N
G
 

N
o
.
 
6
0
-
0
0
0
3

2/9/2023

ncobo

GPLOT-V8

gplotborder-V8i-PO.tbl

60-0004.dgn

GRWPLN

RIGHT OF WAY MAP

Design File and Plot Substitution information

DRAWING No.

P.I. No.

     

     

     

7/31/2015 GRWPLN

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR OF SLOPES

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR OF DRIVES

CONSTRUCTION LIMITS

 & MAINTENANCE OF SLOPES

C F

REQUIRED R/W LINE

PROPERTY AND EXISTING R/W LINE PL

LIMIT OF ACCESS

BEGIN LIMIT OF ACCESS............BLA

END LIMIT OF ACCESS..............ELA

REQ’D R/W & LIMIT OF ACCESS

20

SCALE IN FEET

0 40 80

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATE REVISIONS

LAND DISTRICT: N/A

SH 4DATE: 12/22/22

CITY OF STATESBORO

CITY OF STATESBORO
ENG-122C

PROJECT NO: ENG-122C

COUNTY: BULLOCH

LAND LOT NO: N/A

GMD: 1209

OF 8

    02/10/23
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

Revised parcels 5-9 & 15-16

1
7
+
0
0

1
8
+
0
0

1
9
+
0
0

2
0
+
0
0

2
1
+
0
0

2
2
+
0
0

P
T
 
1
6
+
5
9
.
0
8

P
I
 
2
0
+
2
1
.
0
9

Curve# 2

PI Sta= 20+21.09

   N= 891123.4200

   E= 778652.1030

L
E
E
 
S
T
R
E
E
T

EX. R/W

EX. R/W

E MAIN STREET

2’ GRASS STRIP (TYP)5’ SIDEWALK (TYP)

5’ SIDEWALK
4’ 4’ 4’

MARY ANN ALEXANDER WITTE
N/F

MARY ANN ALEXANDER WITTE
N/F

PROPERTIES LLC
COASTAL PINE WOODS

N/F

RENOVATED RELICS LLC
N/F

JENNIFER G PETIT
CURTIS G & 

N/F

DONNA S HARVILLE
N/F

KENNETH E SMITH
N/F

DONNA HARVILLE
N/F

BRAD ANDERSON
N/F

LOUISE W SCREWS
PEARLE & 

N/F

PEARLE SCREWS
N/F

BD PROPERTIES LLC
N/F

PROPERTIES LLC
DOWNTOWN STATESBORO

N/F

JAMES L JOHNSON
N/F

P L

P L

P L P L P L P L P L

P L

P L

P L

P L P L

P L

P L

DIRT 

DIRT 
DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 

DIRT 
DIRT 

S
I

D
E

W
A
L

K

A
S
P

H
A
L
T

ASPHALT

CONTROL DATA TABLE

NORTH EAST ELEV. DESC.STA. OFFSETPOINT

60D NAIL5 891102.47 778673.92 20+39.89 23.69’ RT 232.90

S
I

D
E

W
A
L

K

S
I

D
E

W
A
L

K

CONC.

CONC.

 

 1OTP  

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

 #51 #51 #51

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

 

 1OTP  

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

 #52 #52 #52

5
 
F
E

N
C
E

5
 
F
E

N
C
E

 

 NAIL  

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

5
 
F
E

N
C
E

 

   

 #5 #5 #5

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
  

   

 

   

 

   
 

   

 

   

 

   

  
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

 

 1/2OTP  

 

   

 

   

 

   

27.00’ LT
16+68.00

34.00’ LT
17+18.99

31.00’ LT
18+67.20

30.00’ LT
19+37.67

30.00’ LT
20+32.23

30.00’ LT
20+91.00

39.00’ LT
21+38.08

34.00’ LT
21+64.00

34.00’ LT
22+32.00

30.00’ LT
16+56.00

39.00’ LT
21+53.00

31.00’ LT
17+87.20

30.00’ LT
16+51.27

21.08’ LT
16+51.24

23.68’ LT
17+18.98

26.00’ LT
18+67.17

25.05’ LT
19+37.71

25.27’ LT
20+32.29

24.26’ LT
21+38.28

25.01’ LT
16+51.26

25.00’ LT
16+57.00

21.74’ LT
16+69.00

23.18’ LT
17+06.00

25.00’ LT
17+09.00

24.93’ LT
17+18.98

24.75’ LT
17+46.00

26.38’ LT
17+87.17

DE10021
DE10022

DE10026 DE10028 DE10030
DE10033

DE10036

DE10037

CONST. OF SLOPES
EASM’T FOR

DE10020

DE10035

DE10024

DE10017

   9 

SEE SHEET 7 SEE SHEET 7

   10

SEE SHEET 8

   14

   11

SEE SHEET 7

   12

SEE SHEET 7

   13

SEE SHEET 7

   8 

SEE SHEET 7

DE10018

DE10023 DE10027

DE10029 DE10031

DE10034

DE10032
DE10073

DE10074

DE10075

DE10076

DE10077

DE10078

DE10079 DE10025
TRACT 1
REQ’D R/W

TRACT 2
REQ’D R/W

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Polygon



 60-0005

2/9/2023

ncobo

GPLOT-V8

gplotborder-V8i-PO.tbl

60-0005.dgn

GRWPLN

RIGHT OF WAY MAP

Design File and Plot Substitution information

DRAWING No.

P.I. No.

     

     

     

7/31/2015 GRWPLN

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR OF SLOPES

EASEMENT FOR CONSTR OF DRIVES

CONSTRUCTION LIMITS

 & MAINTENANCE OF SLOPES

C F

REQUIRED R/W LINE

PROPERTY AND EXISTING R/W LINE PL

LIMIT OF ACCESS

BEGIN LIMIT OF ACCESS............BLA

END LIMIT OF ACCESS..............ELA

REQ’D R/W & LIMIT OF ACCESS

20

SCALE IN FEET

0 40 80

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATE REVISIONS

LAND DISTRICT: N/A

SH 5DATE: 12/22/22

CITY OF STATESBORO

CITY OF STATESBORO
ENG-122C

PROJECT NO: ENG-122C

COUNTY: BULLOCH

M
A
T

C
H
 
L
I

N
E
 
 
S
T

A
.
 
2
2
+
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 

D
R

A
W
I

N
G
 

N
o
.
 
6
0
-
0
0
0
4

GMD: 1209

LAND LOT NO: N/A

  02/10/23
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

Revised parcels 5-9 & 15-16

OF 8

2
3
+
0
0

2
4
+
0
0

2
5
+
0
0

2
6
+
0
0

2
7
+
0
0

2
8
+
0
0

2
8
+
5
5

2
8
+
5
5

P
I
 
2
3
+
4
9
.
2
7

P
I
 
2
5
+
8
8
.
1
1

P
I
 
2
8
+
5
5
.
4
5

Curve# 3

PI Sta= 23+49.27

   N= 891167.5590

   E= 778977.3000

Curve# 4

PI Sta= 25+88.11

   N= 891196.5796

   E= 779214.3673

P
A

C
K
I

N
G

H
O

U
S
E
 

R
O

A
D

E MAIN STREET

EX. R/W

EX. R/W

2’ GRASS STRIP (TYP)

5’ SIDEWALK (TYP)

END PROJECT
PACKINGHOUSE ROAD

STA 28+50.00
N: 891229.7114
E: 779474.1543

END CONSTRUCTION

PACKINGHOUSE ROAD

STA 27+91.20

N: 891222.2653

E: 779415.6062

5’ SIDEWALK

TYPE D CURB
CUT RAMP

4’

LORI J DEAL
RICHARD N & 

N/F

LOGAN A J PROPERTIES LLC
N/F

& DEBORAH K DENNIS
GORDON B KENNEDY JR

N/F

FAYE SANDERS MARTIN
N/F

MARY MAUDE PORTER & ETAL
N/F

HOLDINGS LLC
RND REAL ESTATE 

N/F

CONSTRUCTION INC
EAGLE CREEK 

N/F

RENOVATED RELICS LLC
N/F

P L

P L

P L

P L

P L P L P L P L

P L

P L

S
I

D
E

W
A
L

K

CONTROL DATA TABLE

NORTH EAST ELEV. DESC.STA. OFFSETPOINT

60D NAIL6 891249.09 779474.07 28+52.37 19.21’ LT 230.96

CONC.
CONC.

C
O

N
C
.

DIRT 
CONC.CONC.

DIRT 

S
I

D
E

W
A
L

K

CONC.

CONC.

S
I

D
E

W
A
L

K

 #6

 #6

 #6

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

 #53 #53 #53

4
 
F
E

N
C
E

 

 3/4OTP  

 #54 #54 #54

 

 3/4 OTP  

40.00’ LT
22+70.24

31.00’ LT
24+38.00

35.00’ LT
24+65.00

31.00’ LT
24+45.00

35.00’ LT
24+69.92

35.00’ LT
24+73.00

30.00’ LT
24+93.00

38.00’ LT
27+64.14

38.00’ LT
23+95.00

30.00’ LT
27+33.00

43.00’ LT
23+48.00

23.43’ LT
22+70.60

24.89’ LT
24+69.92

23.38’ LT
23+48.00

23.39’ LT
23+24.00

43.00’ LT
23+24.00

30.00’ LT
27+10.00

25.09’ LT
27+10.00

25.00’ LT
27+63.94

W/R D’QER

W/R D’QER

15"
15"

1
5
"

DE10038

DE10042

DE10044

DE10046

DE10045

DE10043

DE10048

DE10049

DE10051

CONST. OF SLOPES
EASM’T FOR

DE10050

DE10041

   16

SEE SHEET 8

   15

SEE SHEET 8

DE10039 DE10047

STA. 27+64.14
PACKINGHOUSE RD

END RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION

DE10082

DE10080

DE10081

DE10084

DE10083 DE10052

1 AERA 2 AERA

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Polygon



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulett Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Jason Boyles 
      Assistant City Manager 
 
 
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
           Public Utilities Director  
 
Date: 10-10-2023 
 
 
RE: Water/Sewer Agreement, Ecoplastics America Corp. 
 
 
Policy Issue: Contract/Agreement  
 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to approve a Water/Sewer 
Agreement with Ecoplastics America Corp. for 78.40 acres located at 4800 US 
HWY 301 S. Register, 30452 GA, Property Tax Number 049 000022 000. 
 
Background: Ecoplastics America Corp. a supplier of extruded plastic parts to 
Hyundai manufacturing is constructing a facility on US Hwy 301 South. The facility 
will utilize water and sewer services supplied by the City of Statesboro. As part of 
the process to allow them to connect to City utilities they are required to 
execute a Water Sewer Agreement. This agreement requires them to install all 
water and sewer facilities to City standards and specifications. The customer is 
subject to all customary Tap and ATC fees due and payable before service is 
established.  
 
Budget Impact: Increased revenue from tap fees and utility sales. 
 
 
Council Person and District: All Members 
 
 
Attachments: Water/Sewer Agreement   














	10-17-2023 Council Agenda
	Medal of Valor and Meritorious Service Award
	proclamation- Domestic Violence -2023
	10-03-2023 Council Minutes
	Council Memo&_Packet_CC_OCT_2023
	Family dollar  Memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	FAMILY DOLLAR 30436 APP_Redacted
	FAMILY DOLLAR APPROVALS
	Blight tax 2.0  Memo (1)
	blight tax ord 2.0 2nd reading
	Brooklet Sewer SDS  Memo
	SDS Update September (1)
	Form 1
	Statesboro wastewater Supply Area 2023
	Brooklet Sewer Service Area 2023
	Portal WasteWater
	Bulloch Form 4

	CC Memo_Pineland Transit Voucher_draft 10-10-23
	Pineland Transit Voucher MOU
	CC memo for ROW acquisition Services on ENG-122c
	Pages from SR24-E.Main - ROW - 20230210_Ex.A
	Eco plastics water-sewer agreement
	Memo Water-Sewer Agreemen Ecoplastics 10-10-23



